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Subsequently, on February 20, 1905, Fish made the refusal definite, in a letter to J.
425

P. Morgan and Company, saying:

Our Executive Committee has given careful consideration to the proposi-
tion which you and your associates made to us a week ago last Saturday for
the purchase from our Cowpany of certain securities to be issued by it.

The committee has decided that at the present time it is not expedient
for the Company to enter into such a comprehensive scheme of financing as
that suggested, on the lines proposed.

That 3aker was one of Morgan's "associates," mentioned in this letter is in-
426

dicated by Fish's letter to Baker, the same day, in which he said:

After most careful consideration our Executive Committee has determined
that we can not take up at present negotiations on the lines suggested by 66(b42-4--r
Messrs. I. P. Morgan & Company and Messrs. Kidder, Peabody & Company at our
recent interview. There are practical and legal difficulties in the way which
seem to us, for a time at least, to be controlling.

Pe_A.

I enclose a copy of a memorandum that we are submitting to a number of
banking houses which have intimated a desire to consider any issue of securi-
ties that we might make about this time.

Fish also felt called upon to communicate this decision directly to Waterbury,

who, as has been shown, was the liaison agent for fish and the Baker-Morgan group. Fish
427

wrote Waterbury the same day saying:

Knowing the deep interest you have in securing an arrangement by which
our financial matters may be adjusted for a long time, I regret to say that
the Executive Committee has determined that it is not wise for us to consider
at present the comprehensive scheme of financing submitted to us by Messrs.
J. P. Morgan & Company, and Messrs. Kidder, Peabody & Company, at our recent
interview. I have so notified those two firms.

There are certain practical and legal difficulties in the way of dealing
with the matter on broad lines at the present time which may ultimately be
eliminated but which now seem to us controlling.

We are submitting to a number of banking houses which have expressed and
interest in our securities a memorandum copy of which I enclose.

Thus it appears that the Baker-Morgan plan apparently had been broached in the presence

425. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to J. P. Morgan & Co., dated February 20, 1905.
426. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to George F. Baker, dated February 20, 1905.
427. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated February 20, 1905.
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of Waterbury and Baker and representatives of I. P. Morgan and Company and Kidder, Pea-

body and Company.

At this critical juncture Fish - suddenly decided to call a special meeting of
428

the directorate, and telegraphed George Bradley and other directors, saying:

It is of very great importance that you should attend a special meeting

of the Directors in Boston on Saturday of this week, as without you we should

probably not get a quorum. Will you come?

But on the same day, Fish arranged urgent consultations with other persons. In a tele-

429

gram written that day to Coolidge, Fish said:

Can I see you at breakfast or early Thursday morning in New York?

430

To Baker he telegraphed:

Shall hope to see you and Mr. Waterbury in New York Thursday morning.

431

And to Waterbury:

Shall hope to see you and lir. Baker in New York Thursday morning.

At this point in the negotiations (February 24, 1905) occurred the request by Coolidge
432

for a list of Bell stockholders holding 100 shares or more, to which Mackay referred

ia his letter to Coolidge, the significance of which will be shown later.

The special meeting for that Saturday was postponed as the result of an "un-

derstanding" as indicated by Fish in n letter to several directors, including Coolidge,

433
saying:

The meeting of the Directors of the American Telephone and Telegraph

Company called for tomorrow, Saturday, at twelve o'clock, will be held, but

428. Ibid., telegram, F. P. Fish to Geo. L. Bradley, dated February 21, 1905.

429. Ibid., telegram, F. P. Fish to T. I. Coolidge, Jr., dated February 21, 1905.

430. Ibid., telegram, F. P. Fish to George F. Baker, dated February 21, 1905.

431. Ibid., telegram, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated February 24, 1905.

432. Seep. 83.
433, American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. TV,

letter, F. P. Fish to T. J. Coolidge, Jr., dated February 24, 1905.
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no quorum is expected at that time. The meeting will be adjourned until Mon-
day, February 27, at twelve o'clock noon, at which hour it will be held.

This is in accordance with the understanding with you. Please be pres-
ent on Monday next at twelve o'clock noon.

The meeting apparently was definitely to be held that Monday, and Fish, at to

his previous conferences with Baker, Coolidge, Vail and Waterbury, wanted Waterbury to
434

be sure to be present, as was indicated in his letter to the latter, saying:

Directors' meeting will be held twelve o'clock Monday. I rely upon your
being present.

Purchase of Non-Convertible Bonds by Baker-Morgan Group. The Baker-Morgan

group had been outbid in 1904 by the Higginson-Speyer firms. In 1905 their ambitious

plan of financing appeared to the Bell counsel so audacious that it was rejected, and

the financing again was to be open to competitive bidding. That the Baker-Morgan group

was determined not to let another lot of securities fall to others was indicated by

their bid, in relation to those of others, for the 1905 offer, consisting of 425,000,000
435

collateral 4's due in 1929. The bids were as follows:

1. Kidder, Peabody and Baring Bros. (of London) 94.190

2. Seligman 92.510

3. Lee, Higginson and Speyer 91.390

4. Pickering & Moseley 91.000

5. Gay (For 0100,000 only) 90.130
(For $100,000 only) 90.410

6. Doucette (For .25,000 only) 89.000
(For 425,000 only) 89.500

7. Poor 87.777

434. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated February 24, 1905.

435. Cf. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to Messrs. Kidder, Peabody & Company, dated March 1,

1905; American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No.17614,

letter, I. & W. Seligman & Co. to Frederick P. Fish, dated March 1, 1905; letter,

Lee, Higginson & Company to Frederick P. Fish, dated March 1, 1905; letter, John

Pickering & Moseley to the American Tel. Co., dated March 1, 1905; letter, W. 0.

Gay & Company to Frederick p. Fish, dated March 1, 1905; letter, X. E. Doucette
& Co. to The Executive Committee, Amer. Tel. & Tel. Co., dated March 1, 1905; NA,-

ter, R. W. Poor & Co. to Frederick P. Fish, dated March 1, 1905.
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436
On Wednesday, March 1, 1905, Fish wired Crane, to call him by telephone at

twelve o'clock. That day the outcome of the bidding was announced by Fish to the Hig-
437

ginson firm in a letter stating:

The bonds to the amount of $25,000,000 offered for
awarded to Messrs. Kidder, Peabody & Company and Baring

We thank you and Messrs. Speyer & Company for the
en in this matter and regret that your bid was not such
make the sale to you and Messrs. Speyer & Company.

sale today have been
Bros. & Company.

interest you have tak-
es to enable us to

Mackay Couanies Abandoned by Baker-Morgan Group. This letter was dated

March 1, 1905, just six days after Coolidge had asked for a list of Bell stockholders,
438

to which Mackay referred in a letter to Coolidge, saying, in part:

Finally, the fact that several weeks ago, you agreed to obtain for me a
list of the shareholders in the American Telephone and Telegraph Company hold-
ing 100 shares or more, shows that we all had expected to acquire Bell stock,
and in further proof, you will remember when we were all present, Mr. Water-
bury told us that he had had a talk with Mr. Baker with a view to acquiring
Mr. Baker's Bell stock.

It will be recalled that The Mackay Companies had been asked to underwrite $37,500,04

In a ',syndicate which was to acquire stocks and bonds in financing the Telephone Com-

pany,' to the amount of 0.50,000,000. As has been shown, Mackay refused this plan, and

the Baker-Morgan group, through Kidder, Peabody and the Barings of London, failing to

get Bell's acceptance of their ambitious convertible bond plan, did buy $25,000,000 of

Telephone bonds on March 1, 1905. It was later in this same month that Coolidge had

written to Mackay, in discussing their plans to gain control of the Bell company, say-
439

mg:

The first step in financing has since been carried out successfully and with-
out the Mackay Companies participating in it.

436. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. IV,
telegram, F. P. Fish to W. Murray Crane, dated Larch 1, 1905.

437. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to Messrs. Lee, Higginson & Co., Boston, dated Marchl,
1905.

438. See footnote 323.
439. See footnote 322.

Ceott_
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These circumstances reveal clearly, in the words of Coolidge himself, that the financ-

ing of the Bell system by the Baker-Morgan group, beginning in 1905, was a definite

part of the larger plan to obtain control of the Bell company.

Thereafter, the Baker-Morgan group apparently abandoned the Mackay Companies

as a part of its plan to gain control .of the telephone-telegraph field and, as will ap-

pear later, eventually took over Gould's Western Union in 1909 when Gould had been cor-

nered by the financial difficulties following the 190? panic.

Reversal of Bell Opinion on Baker-.Morgan Convertible Bond Proposal.

The first relevant move after this financing, on March 1, 1905, was a plan to

make possible the concentration of managerial control of the Bell Company in the hands

of six persons.

On March 20, 1905, Fish wrote the directors identical letters, saying, in
440

part:

It is desirable that the by-laws of the Company should be amended in some
particulars, and in the notice of the annual meeting the amendment of the by-
laws has been referred to as a question to be brought before the stockholders
at that meeting.

Most of the changes proposed are simply matters of phraseology, to adapt
the by-laws to the language of the statutes of New York, or for clearness.
There are, however, four changes of substance that are suggested:

1. Under the authority of a statute passed last May, it is proposed to
make the number of Directors required to constitute a quorum one-third of the
whole number, instead of a majority as heretofore. This change will give a
much needed relief in the transaction of the business of the Company, as at
times it has been difficult to secure the presence of a majority of the full
Board.

2. It is proposed to amend the by-law in regard to the powers of the
Executive Committee, so that this committee will have, except as otherwise
provided by law, the powers of the Board of Directors during the interval be-
tween the meetings of the Board. This is important as quick action of a bind-
ing character is sometimes necessary.

440. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.

IV, letters, F. P. Fish to Theodore N. Vail, John I. Waterbury, George L. Brad-

ley, W. Murray Crane, George F. Baker, Charles Eustis Hubbard, Thomas Sanders,

Moses Williams, W. L. Putnam, T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., Henry s. Howe, and

Charles W. Amory, each dated March 20, 1905.
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441The proposed changes subsequently were adopted. At that time there were
442eighteen directors, of whom five served on the Executive Committee. Thus the Ex-

ecutive Committee and one additional Director could exercise the full power of the en-
tire Directorate. The Executive Committee consisted of Amory, Cochrane, Crane, Fish443
and Howe, while among the full directorate were included Baker, Waterbury, Coolidge
and Vail, all of whom had been elected after the Baker-Morgan purchase of 50,000 sharesAA A

of stock, in March, 1902.

Fish and Waterbury also were concerning themselves with the problem of edu.
eating public opinion, for this was in the midst of Theodore Roosevelt's "Trust Bustl

445era to which previous reference has been made. On April 1, 1905, Fish wrote WAte]446
bury, saing in part:

I find that people all over the United States are coming around to theposition that something must be done to meet intelligently and effectivelythis wave of public sentiment against property, and particularly corporateproperty. I firmly believe that in a comparatively short time there will bea large number of movements in the direction of educating the public; mostof them perhaps based upon an earnest desire to do what is right in the mat-ter, but some of them founded upon unreasonable propositions, and others ofthem merely plans by which some particular individual will hope to get money.
Upon further reflection, I am still firmly of the opinion that if we canstart such an informal committee as we discussed the other evening we cantake hold of and shape all these movements. Of course, as we talked it, thatcommittee would be in the background; but it might have to the front any num-ber of definite organizations, if it seemed desirable to work in that amongother directions.

447Subsequently the company contributed .:.5,000 to this fund and obtained similar

1'1

)1-41W (-6-)Lk147V

441. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to George L. Bradley, dated March 27, 1905.442. Cf. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Office of the secretary, list ofAmerican Telephone and Telegraph Company Directors and Executive Committee Mem-bers, dated November 1, 1934.
443. Idem.
444. Idem.
445. See footnote 28.
446. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. r7,letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated April 1, 1905.447. The voucher described the expenditure asi "Contribution towards a fund for usein the investigation and discussion of the relations of public service corpora-tions with the Government, National, State and municipal." (American Telephoneand Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. IV, letter, F. P. Fishto Wm. R. Driver, dated June 20, 1905, and letter, F. P. Fish to Gordon Abbott,dated June 14, 1905).
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contributions from President C. L. Edgar for the Edison Electric Illuminating Company
of Boston, President Lucius Tuttle for the Boston and Maine Railroad Company, the Boston
Consolidated Gas Company, Mr. Goodspeed of the Massachusetts Electric Company, and the448
"Elevated Company".

Financial discussions again were resumed on Saturday, June 10, 1905, when a
Sunday conference between Waterbury and Fish was revealed after its postponement became
necessary, as indicated in Fish's telegram and letter to Waterbury on Saturday, say-449
ing:

I was very sorry to be obliged to telegraph you today as follows:

"Regret to say I must be in Boston tomorrow. Will seeyou early Monday morning at your office in New York."

One of my Important Western men has cane on today and I must spend to-morrow with him. I will be at your office in New York early Monday morning.

On Tuesday of the Week following this conference Waterbury resigned from The Mackay Com-450 
451panicle, and on Wednesday he sailed for Europe.

On May 13, 1905, Fish also had arranged a conference on a "matter of great mi-
452portance" with Coolidge, in a letter to him, saying:

Will you do me the great favor of sending for Mr. Leverett, asking himto submit to you a matter of great importance to the telephone company thatIs now under consideration.

Before the conference was held, Fish concluded to see Coolidge personally, as indicated

448. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. IV,letter, F. P. Fish to Robert Winsor, dated June 14, 1905; letter, F. P. Fish toC. L. Edgar, President, Edison Electric Ill. Co., dated June 5, 1905; letter, F.P. Fish to Lucius Tuttle, President, B. & M. R. R. Co.. dated Tune 14. 1905; let-ters. F.P.Fish to Gordon Abbott, dated June 14, 1905 and August 7, 1905.449. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 39, letter,F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated June 10, 1905.450. See letter, John I. Waterbury to Clarence H. Mackay, dated June 20, 1905 (pre-viously cited in footnote 326).
451. Idem.
452. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. TV,letter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge....Tr„ dated May 13. 1905.
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453
in a wire to him dated May 15, 1905, saying:

Have concluded that it is better for me to take up with you matter
about which I wrote you rather than Mr. Leverett. Shall try to see younext Londay.

454.
To this wire Coolidge replied:

I received your wire just in time. I shall be glad to see you nextMonday,

Subsequently, Waterbury resigned from The Mackay Companies on Tune 20, 1905, just be

fore his departure for Europe. Within two weeks Coolidge also resigned from The Wec
455 456

Companies (on July 3, 1905), and sailed for urope a week later.

Fish likewise made preparations to go abroad, as indicated in a letter to
457

Mr. Arthur G. Fuller, % Hardy and Page, London, England, in which Fish said:

I thank you for your letter of August 1 and wish that I might see you
while abroad but my plans are absolutely uncertain and I do not know where
I shall be at any particular time. I sail from New York on the 26th of Aug—ust and return from Liverpool on the 26th of September. It may be that Ishall have an opportunity to communicate with you while abroad and arrange
to see you.

Shortly before he sailed, Fish was discussing the financing plans with iMinsor

of Kidder Peabody. This company, it will be recalled, was one of those represented at

the conference of Baker-Morgan representatives with Fish at the time the original Baker-
458

Morgan plan for convertible bonds had been Proposed to the Bell Company and refused,

453. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 39, tele-
gram, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., dated Lay 15, 1905.

454. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15597, let-
ter, T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., to F. P. Fish, dated May 15, 1905.

455. See personal correspondence file of Clarence H..Lackay,.letter, T. Jefferson
Coolidge, Jr., to Clarence H. Mackay, dated July 3, 1905 (facsimile transmitted
by William J. Deegan, Vice President of Postal Telegraph and Cable Corporation,
to C. L. Terrel, Engineer of the Federal Communications Commissibn, by letter
dated April 16, 1937, filed in Federal Communications Commission, Engineering
Binder No. 201).

456. Idem.
457. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. IV,

letter, F. P. Fish to Arthur G. Fuller, dated August 9, 1905.
458. See footnote 384.
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in February, 1905. It was the firm which subsequently (March 1, 1905) joined with Bar-
459

ing Brothers of London, England, in purchasing 425,000,000 of Bell's bonds, after

Mackay had refused the Coolidge-Waterbury plan to participate in a syndicate to purchase
460

V150,000,000 of Bell securities. Winsor, of Kidder Peabody, apparently discussed

the subject at the "Exchange Club," as in indicated by Fish's letter to him, in which
461

he said:

In view of my understanding with my Executive Committee that the entire
financial question should go over until fall, I am not sure that I am at lib-
erty to go so far into the facts and figures with you as you would like, as
per your suggestion at the Exchange Club today. At any rate, I shall have to
bring the question before my Committee.

You will remember that I said, after my return from California, that I
saw no reason why you and I should not talk over your general plan or thought
on the subject (provided we could do so without prejudice or any danger of
incurring the slightest obligation) for such preliminary consideration would
make the work in the fall, if we take it up, more easy. Dealing with "facts
and figures" as you suggest would go far towards instituting negotiations
and a possible approach to a committal. This, of course, must be avoided.

If you feel that you cannot tell me the general nature of your plan,
without going into the figures, it seems to me most probable that every-
thing will have to go over until fall, as I doubt if my Committee would sup-
port me in taking action now, which might be inconsistent with our conclusion
to do nothing at present. I should have said all this to you this noon but
my mind did not work quickly enough.

A week later (August 22, 1905) Fish arranged another interview with Winsor, in a letter
462

to him stating:

I should be glad to have you COUP to the office tomorrow, if convenient.
have a great many things to do tomorrow and suggest that you telephone before
you come.

President Fish's Trip to Eurue in 1905. Fish sailed for Europe August 26,

459. See pp. 129 and 130.
460. See pp. 80 to 84.
461. Anerican Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private letter Book No. TV,

letter, F. P. Fish to Robert Winsor, dated August 14, 1905.
462. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 40, letter,

F. P. Fish to Robert Winsor, dated August 22, 1905.
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463
1905, returning on October 5, 1905. This trip abroad marks an abrupt and unex-

plained change in Fish's previous reluctance to accept the Baker-Morgan proposal to fi-

nance Bell with convertible bonds in a plan against which the Bell legal counsel, that
464

spring, had warned Fish, saying:

To our minds there is another risk in the proposed plan which should be
had in mind. If a bankers syndicate should .be formed, under the proposed
plan, who should pool their bonds or place them in trust, the trust so formed,
by exercising the option given for the conversion of bonds, would have the
power to acquire so near an absolute controlling interest in this company as
practically to control the whole assets of the company, which they could use
for any schemes of financing that they saw fit. In short, having nearly one-
half of the entire issued capital stock of the company, they could consolidate
this company with other companies, or make any other arrangement in regard to
its future financing that they saw fit. This is a great and extremely valuable
option and is equivalent, until the bonds are Aistributed or sold to the pub-
lic, to a surrender of the powers of management by the present officers and
stockholders to a body of bankers who may work to the disadvantage of the pres-
ent stockholders in the promotion of other schemes of consolidation.

We cannot see in the present condition of the company any urgency which
calls for a method of financing do drastic as this plan.

As will appear subsequently, such a convertible bond issue subsequently was offered to

the Baker-Morgan group without competitive bids, and was not distributed to the public

by that group until after the Bell Company had been reorganized by a ccamdttee first
465

suggested by Waterbury, consisting of himself, Baker, Coolidge, Crane, and Vail.

Immediately upon his return from abroad, Fish's attention was directed to an

estimate of the Bell Company's legal powers and practical abilities to engage in the

telegraph business as well as the telephone business, as is indicated in a letter from

their legal counsel, Leveiett, to Fish, dated October 5, 1905, in which was stated, in
466

part:

463. Cf. Ameripn Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 40,
letter, F. P. Fish to Clarence H. Mackay, dated August 17, 1905. See also, Pres-
ident's Private Letter Book No. V, letter, F. P. Fish to H. J. Gonden, dated
October 5, 1905, and letters, F. P. Fish to Fred DeLand, dated August 23, 1905,
and October 5, 1905, respectively.

464. Sae pp. 124 to 126, and footnote No. 423.
465. See p. 163 and footnote No. 551.
466. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Boston File, "Hall and French" papers,

Folder No. 157, letter, Geo. V. Leverett to Frederick P. Fish, dated October 5,
1905, entitled "Leased Wire and General Telegraph Business of Licensees; Mr. Lev-
erett's Opinion, October 5, 1905."
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You desire me to state what, in my opinion, are the powers of our Licen
sees to carry on

1. A leased wire business, and

Ls. II. A general telegraph business
* * * * * * * * *

As stated above the standard forms of contracts were adopted after the
execution of the contract of November 10, 1879 and were drafted with a view
to enforce the obligations which The American Bell Telephone Company had as-
sumed in that contract in regard to the use of telephones for business in
competition with the business of the Western Union Telegraph Company and its
allied companies.

* * * * * * * * *
There is nothing whatever in the contracts prohibiting in direct terms

the Licensee from doing either a general telegraph business or a leased wire
business.

* * * * * * * * *
It is to be noted, however, in this connection, that these contracts

were designed to discharge the obligations.under the Western Union contract
of November 10, 1879, and received the approval of the counsel of that Com-
pany. The Western Union Company now claims that the contract of November 10,
1879 is broad enough to prohibit the American Bell Telephone Company from
using Morse instruments upon extra-territorial connecting lines and has
brought suit to enjoin such use. But while this suit was brought in 1890
it has never been pressed and the contract of November 10, 1879 was allowed
to expire while the suit was pending in court. I do not think the Western
Union can maintain its contention, and it is doubtful if the suit will everbe revived, but if it should, it would only be upon a question of damages as
the right to an injunction has now expired.

Four days later Fish showed his tendency to checkmate the Postal Telegraph in

favor of Western Union (of which Clowry was President) in a letter to one of his operat-
467

Ing company presidents, Yost, in which he said:

It is undoubtedly Clowry's intention to retaliate if favors are shownthe Postal, and I am inclined to believe that Wallace will lose money becausehe helped the Postal out in his territory.

I doubt if you should do what the Postal asks, and if I were in your
place I should tell the Postal frankly exactly what your reason is for not
complying with their request.

That day, also, Fish resumed his conferences with Coolidge, as shown by his letter to
468

the latter, stating:

467. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 40, letter,
F. P. Fish to C. E. Yost, dated October 9, 1905.

468. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. V,
letter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., dated October 9, 1905.
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I 101 glad to hear from you and it will give me pleasure to see you atany time today. I will call on you if you prefer.

Acceptance of Baker-Morgan Convertible Bond Plan. After Fish's return from
Europe, the Company's correspondence shows no further discussion of the advisability

of accepting the Baker-Morgan convertible bond plan, which had been so summarily re-

jected that spring. However, there apparently was knowledge that some plans for financ
ing were under way, for H. W. Poor and Company, one of the unsuccessful bidders for the

469Company's bonds that spring, wrote Fish on October 19, 1905, saying:

If you are contemplating putting out any new issues of bonds of the Amer-ican Tel. & Tel. Company or the Western Tel. & Tel. Co. in the near future, Ihope you will not forget us.

The first indication in the Company's correspondence of Fish's attitude on the

convertible bond issue after his return from Europe, occurred about two weeks later (No-
vember 1, 1905) when the Bell legal counsel received an opinion on the steps necessary

to authorize the convertible bond issue, as shown in a letter from John C. Gray, of the
470firm of Ropes, Gray and Gorham, to Leverett, in which was stated, in part:

On behalf of the American Telephone & Telegraph Company, you have askedmy opinion on two questions:

I. What vote must be passed by the Stockholders of the Company in orderto authorize an issue of convertible bonds by the Directors?* * * * * * * * *
II. What vote must be passed by the Stockholders of the Company to au-thorize an Josue of preferred stock by the Directors?

Six days later, the plans apparently had progressed to the point where Fish

wished the advice of Waterbury and Baker on the method of informing the stockholders of

the convertible bond issue, as shown by a letter from Fish to Waterbury, dated Novem-
471

be? 7, 1905, in which he said:

469. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15827, let-ter, H. W. Poor & Company to F. P. Fish, dated October 19, 1905.470, American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15851, let-ter, Ropes, Gray & Gorham to George V. Loverett, dated November 1, 1905.471. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private, Letter Book No. V,letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated November 7, 1905.
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By Monday of next week I shall have the final word from the lawyers asto our financial plan. On that day I hope to call on you in New York. Mean-while, will you look over the enclosed, which is my first suggestion for theform of circular to the stockholders.

Please also consider whether it is wise to ask for the right to 158116preferred stock at the saue time that we ask for the right to issue convert-ible bonds.

I go west this afternoon and shall be at the Auditorium Annex Thursday,Friday and Saturday of this week.

Perhaps you will talk with Mr. Baker.

Two days later a circular had been prepared to send to the stockholders, asking them to

give their proxies to vote the requisite power to issue convertible bonds. The circular472
read, in part:

In view of the necessity of securing further capital for the constantlyincreasing business of the Company on as favorable terns as possible, it isclear that the Company should not be limited in its financing to the formsof security which it has heretofore issued. After careful consideration, yourDirectors have come to the definite conclusion that the interests of the stock-holders and of the Company would be promoted if the Company were in a positionto negotiate for the issue and sale of bonds convertible into the stock of theCompany on some proper basis. In accordance with the laws of the State of NewYork, under which your Company is organized, such bonds may be issued if au-thorized by the stockholders. It is the opinion of your Directors that if, inaddition to the right to procure capital by the further issue of stock and offour per cent collateral bonds, the Directors should be authorized to negotiatefor the issue and sale of convertible bonds, the money necessary for the de-velopment of the business could be obtained more advantageously than if theCompany were confined to the forms of financing to which it has heretofore beenrestricted.
* * *

Enclosed herewith is a notice calling a special meeting of the stock-holders for Thursday, the twenty-first day of December, 1905, at which a votewill be presented, giving to the Directors authority to issue from time totime convertible bonds of such a character and on such terns as may seem tothem most advantageous to the Company, to an aggregate amount which will beadequate for financial needs of the Company for several years.* * * * * * * * *
Enclosed herewith will be found a form of proxy running to

• 
a.

• •which, if executed and forwarded to William R. Driver, Treasurer, 125 MilkStreet, Boston, Massachusetts, will, at the meeting, be exercised in favor ofthe plan indicated in the form of vote above set forth.

472. Amsrican Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15887, Cir-cular from American Telephone and Telegraph Company to its stockholders, datedNovember 9, 1905.
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473
The approved form was deliverea zo Fish by Leverett on November 11, 1905, and four

474
days later Fish wrote Coolidge for a conference; saying:

I should like very much to see you for half an hour at some convenient
time. Much as I dislike to add to your burdens, some of our matters are so
important that I desire to discuss them with you.

Financial data apparently had been submitted to Kidder, Peabody, as indicazed in their
475

letter to Fish dated November 15, 1905, saying:

I return herewith the documents which you gave me yesterday afternoon.
Both Mr. Winsor and I have read them, although I think that perhaps Winsor
has not studied the figures as closely as I wish he might have done. It cer-
tainly is a most satisfactory showing.

The next day Fish asked Baker and Waterbury for an interview, in a letter to the latter,
476

stating:

Would it be possible for you and Mr. Baker to give me an hour on Monday
to talk over the matter about which we had an interview last Monday? If so,
I will come over to New York and keep any appointment you may make.

I am very anxious indeed to make progress, and should regard it as a
great favor if you and Mr. Baker could see me on Monday rather than at any
later date.

Waterbury and Baker (neither of whom was a member of the Executive Committee)

then advised Fish in detail on the way to present the convertible bond plan to the

stockholders, as was indicated in a letter from Waterbury to Fish, dated November 21,
477

.905, saying, in part:

If you will pardon a running comment which occurs to Ur. Baker and my-
self after reading over the proposed circular to the stockholders, you will,

473. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Presi-lant's Letter File No. 15881, let-
ter, George V. Leverett to F. P. Fish, dated November 11, 1905.

474. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter. Book No. 5,
letter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., dated November 15; 1905.

475. American Telephone and Telegraph Company; President's Letter File No. 15883, let-
ter, Kidder, Peabody & Co. to F. P. Fish, dated November 15, 1905.

476. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. V,
letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated November 16, 1905.

477. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15441, let-
ter, John I. Waterbury to F. P. Fish, dated November 21, 1905.
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I think, have a better notion as to how we are impressed in our efforts to
judge of the draft from the point of view of the stockholder, who, after all,
is the person we desire to reach.

The statement as to the business and operations of the Company might,
we think, be followed by the further statement that the companies are gain-
ing in those portions of the country in which they have continuously pros-
pered, etc. etc., omitting any reference to conditions which are generally
known to exist.

This followed by a description of the company's investments and advances,
and by the statement that in order to meet the continual increasing demands
for a comprehensive and national service such as only this company can give,
requires constant development of facilities and further outlay.

A statement of the present amount of the issued capital upon which divi-
dends are paid, and a short table which will show at a glance the outstanding
bonds and debenture notes of -all kinds, including The American Bell Telephone
Company's bonds. The increased requirements of the company have heretofore
been met by issues of stock or of debentures, or by the issue of debenture
notes.

The development of the company has now reached a stage when the Direct-
ors believe that the interests of the stockholders will be best conserved by
authorizing another form of security that will enable the company to negotiate
advantageously for additional moneys that are required to meet the enormous-
ly increasing business of the company, so that it may be prepared to meet
market conditions as they occur, and provide for financing the Company for an
extended period should it be found practicable to do so.

The Directors believe that in addition to the right to secure money by
the further issue of stock and of its four per cent. collateral bonds, they
should be authorized to negotiate for the issue and sale of convertible bonds
as the money for the necessary development of the business could probably be ,*
obtained at a better rate than if the Company was confined to the forms of
financing to which it has heretofore been limited. •

While the present financial condition of the Company is sufficient for
all its purposes until well into 1906, the Directors nevertheless are of the
opinion that action should be taken upon the-recommendation in order that
the stockholders may derive every advantage in securing money for the future
purposes of the Company.

Waterbury gave Fish additional "suggestions" which he and Baker had "concluded" upon, in
478

a letter to Fish dated November 23, 190b, stating:

I have gone over the proposed circular with Mr. Baker, and have taken the
liberty of noting on the copy the suggestions which occur to us.

478. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15932, let-
ter, John I. Waterbury to F. P. Fish, dated November 23, 1905.
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The slip attached is submitted as an alternative, statement of stock and
bonds.

We also concluded that the lines pencilled on page 3 might be omitted
with the effect of strengthening the circular.

I wish to add that Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Instill, of Chicago are to be in
town next week, Monday, and that I shall try to get our people together that •
day. Will you kindly let me know if you can arrange to meet with us.

The last paragraph of this letter is an interesting commentary, as it associ-

ated Messrs. Mitchell and Insull with "our people." It will be recalled that at the

time Baker purchased 50,000 shares of American Telephone and Telegraph Company stock,

one of those who received a 1,000-share block was J. I. Mitchell, of Chicago, then

President of the Illinois Trust and Savings Bank, later a director of Baker's First Na-
479

tional Bank.

Fish's reply, the next day, gave some indication of the community of interest

which might warrant the Chicago and New York bankers bringing together Uesars. Insull
480

and Fish. The reply stated:

I thank you for your suggestions as to the circular. I have adopted them
all except one. It seemed to me better not to change the description of the
stock and bonds as you suggested. I hope that you will be satisfied with my
conclusion on this point.

I regret that I cannot possibly be in New York on Monday. I shall how-
ever, be there on Tuesday, unless I am forced again to change my plans, when
I shall certainly see you.

It seems to me that our campaign against municipal ownership should be
started now if ever.

By the end of the month, the circular form apparently was agreed upon, though one of the

members of the Executive Committee, Howe, ventured a suggestion, in a letter to Fish,
481

stating:

479. See p. 106, footnote 379.
480. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Latter Book No. V,

letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated November 24, 1905.
481. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15900, let-

ter, Henry S. Howe to F. P. Fish, dated November 27, 1905.
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I have read the proposed circular to the Stockholders A. T. & T. Co. and
have no suggestions or criticisms - its seams to me first-rate -

I think it would be much better that Mt. Baker should be one of those who
should hold the proxies - rather than Nt. Waterbury -

482
The suggestion was not adopted.

Stockholders' Objections to the Proposed Plan of Financing.
483

The circular went out dated November 29, 1905, and Fish immediately was

deluged with stockholders' objections. The following excerpts from these letters will

show the trend of thought among the objecting stockholders:

I cannot see my way clear to consent to give such an enormous power to
the Directors, a power which might seriously impair if not destroy the value
of the stock.... I regret, therefore, that I do not see that I could sign
the proxies you sent me, and must protest against the proposed action. (484)

The mere proposition, alone, has already depressed the stock materially, and
I wish to know whether this large proposed issue of Bonds coming ahead of the
stock will be likely to cause a reduction of dividends. (485)

I quite appreciate the possible desirability and the market conditions
which would enable the Company to sell the convertible bonds at a higher price
to a syndicate of bankers, than they might be able to get direct from the Com-
pany's stockholders. On the other hand, a convertible bond when converted in-
to stock changes the proportionate interest of each stockholder in the Company,
unless such bonds are held by the stockholder himself. This you fully appre-
ciate. (486)

I have disposed of my holdings in your company as I did not appro*e of
your convertable bond issue without the right to stock holders to subscribe
for same. (487)

482. American Telepnone and Telegraph
tached copy of proxy shows those
John I. Waterbury and William R.
Trust Company (see footnote 207)
Telephone and Telegraph Company,

483. American Telephone and Telegraph
ter, Henry Lewis Morris to F. F.

484. American Telephone and Telegraph
ter, Henry Lewis Lorris to F. P.

485. American Telephone and Telegraph
ter, Henry C. Ward to F. P. Fish,

486. American Telephone and Telegraph
ter, Charles Henry Davis to F. P.

487. American Telephone and Telegraph
ter, Clarence S. LeClellan to F.

Company, President's Letter File No. 15986; at-
named are Alexander Cochrane, Nathaniel Thayer,
Driver. Thayer was Director of the Old Colony
and Driver was a Bell employee (see American
President's Letter Book No. 40, p. 1).
Company, President's Letter File No. 15908, let-
Fish, dated December 4, 1905.
Company, President's Letter File No. 15908, let-
Fish, dated December 4, 1905.
Company, President's Letter File No. 15909, let-
dated December 5, 1905.
Company, President's Letter File No. 15923, let-
Fish, dated December 5, 1905.

Company, President's Letter File No. 15959, let-
P. Fish, dated December 8, 1905.
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.... the amount is appalling, and it seems to me that in the present drift of
opinion and feeling in regard to great corporations; (See President's meesage,
for instance), it would be safer to propose one fourth or perhaps one third
of the amount named, and then repeat when necessary and judicious. How it
strikes the public is shown in the slump of 0,000,000 in the market value of
the stock on the first announcement. (488)

While they will presumably represent a further increase of plant to an equal
amount, the actual effect upon the stock will probably be to lessen its val-
ue. (489)

It certainly was not my intention to impute any improper motives or want
of good faith on the part of the Managers of the Am. Tel. Tel. Co. in formu-
lating the plan set forth in the Circular of Nov. 29th, but rather, it seemed
to me, that because of their consciousness of perfect rectitude that they
failed to perceive how fraught with dangerous possibilities their proposition
Was.

In that Circular the stockholders are asked to authorize the Directox
to raise by the issue of convertible bonds the vast sum of one hundred and
fifty millions of dollars, which sum is to be expended by them absolutely at
their discretion, for such purposes, and at such times, and under such con-
ditions as they may determine. We are told in a general way that the Direct-
ors believe that this will be to the advantage of the Company. The resolu-
tion is however so drawn that, if passed, it practically puts this vast sum
into the hands of the present Board, and its successors to do with it as they
will provided that it cannot be shown that the use to Which they put it is
unlawful.

This is certainly an exceptional act of confidence, but perhaps permis-
sible, if we could be assured that the present management would remain un-
changed to the end. It is however possible, if not probable, that through
the changes brought about by Death and other causes, that when this resolution
becomes operative other persons may be in control of the Company of whose wis-
dom and integrity we can at this time have no knowledge.

* * * * * * * * *

Only one word more as to my allusion to the exceeding insignificance of 
the individual stockholder. I have attended annual meetings where the Di-
rectors have heard with smiling and almost contemptuous indifference the most
just and reasonable criticism of their actions simply because under their
hands were proxies enough to re-elect themselves. It is the essence of Tweed-
ism - "What are you going to do about it?" and it is to be found everwhere.
(490)

A plan of finance so dangerous and so vicious in its character To autorize the
Directors or the few who are active in the management to issue bonds, and to
control the expenditure of the enormous sum of one hundred and fifty millions
without giving the stockholders any opportunity to say how, or when or for what

488. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15944, let-
ter, Isaac D. Blodgett to F. P. Fish, dated December 8, 1905.

489. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15943, let-
ter, Timothy W. Sprague to the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, dated
December 8, 190b.

490. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15945, let-
ter, Francis Goodwin to F. P. Fish, dated December 11, 1905.
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purpose this money is to be expended would be to betray one's own interest and
that of the other stockholders. (491)

The thing that bothers me is that the stock which I paid 160 for is dropping in
a rising market and has reached 136. Also that some people seem to think
that the dividend must be reduced before long from r11, to 6%. (492)

• It seems to me that it is not to the benefit of the stockholders to issue
the bonds which have precedence of the stock and deprive the stockholders of
the stock rights they have had before. (493)

Your's of the 16th is rec'd. We do not approve of the issue of convert-
ible bonds. If more capital be needed, we see no reason to depart from the cus-
tom of our Co. of issuing more stock. It has been one of the charms of the Co.,
to give the stockholders these advantages instead of to outsiders.

Ill Central stocks pay 6% and sells at 180;
Penne R • " 6% " " " 140.

Why this difference? Ill Central issues new stock at par and Penne charges
a price of 40% or 50% and sells to bankers at 2i6 less than it does to its own
stockholders.

We shall vote against a convertible bond. (494)

In response to yours of yesterday I mailed you proxies on 150 shares of Am
Tel & Tel Co., though I must say you did not say anythinp that convinced me of
any advantage to be gained by the stock holders as a consequence of your antici-
pated action. Thinking that your time might be valuable at this period, I would
not trouble you by any interview. Trusting that you will keep my application for
official employment by your company constantly in mind, I remain (495)

Referring to our conversation on Saturday concerning the proposed issue of
Convertible Bonds by the American Telephone & Telegraph Co., I have since con-
ferred at length with several of the large stockholders, whom we represent, and
find everywhere a genuine appreciation of all that you have done for the company,
but the feeling prevails that their stock interests will, in the end, be best ad-
vanced by withholding their proxies at the coming meeting, and they have instructed
me accordingly. (496)

Your favor of the 19th inst. received and contents noted. It would afford
me very great pleasure to talk with you at any time, but the die seems to be cast
in favor of the convertible bond proposition, and I know how tenacious your Di-
rectors are of their awn opinions. Perhaps a step in the right direction would
be to enlarge your Board of Directors somewhat and make it a little more cosmopol-
itan. (497)

Being altogether opposed to the further increase of capital by the proposed
issue of bonds, I return no proxy (498)

491.
492.

493.

494.

Idem, (attachment).
American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15951, let-
ter, Philip W. Davis to F. P. Fish. dated December 18, 1905.
American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15956, let-
ter, Henry S. Rove to F. P. Fish, dated December 18, 1905,
American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15989, let-
ter, Emery Brothers to F. P. Fish, dated December 19, 1905.

495. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15966,
ter, Alfred Ashenden to F. P. Fish, dated December 19, 1905.

let-

496. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15961,
ter, George B. Moffat to W. Hurray Crane, dated December 19, 1905.

let-

497. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Pile No. 15990,
ter, John M. (lraham to F. P. Fish, dated December 20, 1905.

let-

498. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15986, let-
ter, J. Hull to the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, dated December 20,
1905.



- 146 -
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Despite the evidently wide-spread dissatisfaction among stockholders, and

the unfavorable market reaction exhibited in falling quotations on the Company's
499

stock, the plan was approved at the special stockholders meeting of December 21,
500

1905, although the officers of the Company felt called upon to vote 271.10h shares
501

of treasury stock in favor of the resolution.

After Fish returned from Europe, and after the previously rejected convert-
502

ible bond issue was so promptly proposed to the stockholders, Fish maintained that

there were no plans for financing under consideration. On December 6, 1905, he wrote
503

to an objecting stockholder, saying, in parts

It does not seem to me wise at the present time that we should commit
ourselves to offering to the stockholders any convertible bonds that may
be issued, for the market conditions might be such that the most desirable
trade possible for the Company and the stockholders would be one that could
not give the stockholders the opportunity to subscribe for the bonds.

*5* *5* *5*

Of course you understand that we have no plans for financing at the
present time and there are no negotiations whatever looking to the sale or
issue of such bonds.

On December 8, 1905, Speyer cabled Fish from Europe, suggesting that a cow.

bination of "two important banking groups" to underwrite the "fresh bond issue" which
504

he understood the company intended making.

Fish's reply indicated that his recent trip abroad had not been entirely di-

vorced from considerations affecting the Bell company's financing. The reply stated.
505

in part:

499. See letters from stockholders, quoted in previous section.
500. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Annual Report for the Year, 1905, p.

19.
501. Special Investigation Docket No. 1, Report on "Control of Telephone Communica-

tions," Vol. I, "Control of American Telephone and Telegraph Company." pp. 28,29.
502. See p. 138.
503. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 41, let-

ter, F. P. Fish to Charles H. Davis, dated December 6, 1905.
504. For the full text of this cablegram, see p. 109 and footnote .936.
505. American Telephone and Telegraph, President's Letter Book No. 41, letter,

F.P.Fish to Edgar Speyer, dated December 16. 1905.



- 147-

I was very glad to receive your cablegram and to know that you are of
the same mind as when I had the pleasure of talking with you last Septem-
ber.

Nothing can be or will be done in the way of financing, at any rate
for a few weeks. I should be only too glad if, when the time came, it
were possible to take the matter up on exactly the lines referred to in
your cablegram. You will understand, however, that it may not be in our
power to do this.

Fish gave the first intimation, in his last sentence, that he might already

have committed himself to refuse competitive bidding for the company's financing needs.

The accuracy of this indication will appear more clearly as the later events transpire.
506

Fish left Boston on December 25, 1905 for a trip to the West coast, and re..
507

turned January 20th. Upon his return to the office, he was informed of the fur-

ther financing plans which were under discussion between the bankers and Crane, in a
508

letter from the latter to him, dated January 17, 1906, stating, it part:

I understand that you will return the latter part of this week. I
have given considerable thought to the convertible bond question and am of
the opinion that we should make them four per cent., convertible into
stock at say 160 at any time after two years and before ten years, and we
should issue $100,000,000. I am satisfied that a four per cent, bond con-
vertible at 150 would sell for par and possibly convertible at 160 would
bring par or very near it. .... Mr. Winsor called on me last Saturday and
informed me that all the large financial interests would enter into a syn-
dicate to take the bonds.

• • * • • • * • •
In New York a day or two ago I met Mr. Waterbury and from what he said

I concluded that he had made no plan and in fact had not given the matter
any particular thought. We ought to take immediate action not only on ac-
count of the present condition of the market but for fear of hostile legis-
lation.

Immediately after his return, Fish telephoned Crane to discuss the finisno-

ing. and arranged to go to New York the following Friday, as was indicated in Crane's
509

letter to him. dated January 20, 1906, saying:

506. Ibid., letter,?. P. Fish to J. H. Fondsworth, dated December 23, 1905.
507. Ibid., letter,?. P. Fish to George B. Harris. dated January 20, 1906.
508. American Telephone and Telegraph Coupon'', President's Letter File No. 17615.

letter, W. Murray Crane to F. P. Fish, dated January 17, 1906.
509. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 17616.

letter, W. Murray Crane to F. P. Fish. dated January 20, 1906.
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Referring to our talk on the telephone today I am satisfied that the
four per cent. convertible bond would be much preferable to the four and
a half, and that it would sell at par if made convertible at 150 and might
possibly bring that figure if made convertible at 160 but of the latter I
do not feel so positive. Four and a half would be a sign of weakness I
fear and might possibly hurt the standing of the company in financial quar-
ters.

I shall be glad to meet you in New York Friday, and hope that you will
be prepared to take this subject up as I feel, as I am sure you do also,
that we ought to take some action as quickly as possible.

The first letter appearing in Fish's Private Letter Book following his re..
510

turn from the West was addressed to Coolidge. dated January 23, 1906, saying:

Will you give me the privilege of an interview with you the next time
you are in Boston? I am quite anxious to have a fairly long talk with you.

Fish also arranged with Crane to meet him in New York the following Friday,
511

in a letter to him, saying:

I shall not write you at length, for I hope to see you on Friday. I
shall go the first thing Friday morning to Mr. Cutler's office, where I
shall be for an hour or two. You can find me there, or later at my own
office.

I am very anxious to go ahead with the financing at the earliest pos-
sible date, but do not think that I should take any active step until I
have talked with you.

The impending Friday conference on financing apparently became known. for
512

on that day William Salomon of William Salomon and Company, wired Fish, saying:

Would you kindly let me know whether it is still time to make a bid
for the nen, convertible bonds? I think I shall be in a position to make
a competitive bid if you will consider one. Please answer.

The Friday conference in New York must have included some effort on the part

of the Baker-Morgan group to placate Lee Rigginson and Company, and to avoid their

510. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.
V, letter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge. Jr., dated January 23, 1906.

511. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to W. M. Crane, dated January 23, 1906.
512. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 16022,

telegram, William Salomon to F. F. Fish, dated January 26, 1906.
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condemnation of the refusal to allow competitive bidding, as will be shown. Crane

apparently did not leave his New York hotel until late Friday for on Saturday, after
513

he had arrived back in Washington, he wrote Fish, saying:

Mr. Storrow called on me at the hotel last evening. From what he said
I Judged that he and his friends mould be quite well satisfied with a two-
thirds interest in the proposed syndicate providing Mr. Morgan would with-
draw his objections to Mr. Speyer. I presume that he will make this known
to you when he sees you. That being the case, Mr. Winsor ought to be able
to induce Mr. Morgan to withdraw his objections.

514
Storrow was a member of the Higginson firm, which had been associated

with Speyer in the company's previous financing. Morgan appears to have participated

in the Friday conferences, to the extent of refusing to compromise on Higginsonf s de-

sire to have Speyer admitted to the non-competitive financing. After the Friday con-

faience on the proposed syndicate, Fish returned to his Boston office and wired Sala-
515

mon:

Was absent yesterday. Nothing up as yet. Will write.

The doubtful accuracy of this wire was reinforced by Fish's letter to Salomon, writ -
516

ten the same day in which he said:

I was out of town when your telegram was received.

Nothing has been done as yet, but the conditions are such that I must be
very careful in all cases not to give any encouragement to any parties in the
matter referred to.

I very much appreciate your continued interest in our financial affairs,
and it would give me great pleasure to be in a position to utilize your very
efficient organisation and capacity; but there are innumerable considera-
tions that must be taken into account, and it is entirely impossible for me
to say what can or can not be done,

fish gave additional evidence of the apparent obligations he found himself

513. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 17615,
letter, W. Murray Crane to F. P. Fish, dated January 27, 1906.

514. See p. 113 ff.
515. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 42, tele-

gram. F. P. Fish to William Salomon, dated January 27, 1906.
516. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to William Salomon, dated January 27, 1906.
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517
under. He wrote Salomon again the next Tuesday (January 30th). getting a little

518
closer to the point where he could refuse Salomon's offer outright, saying, in part:

I shall be in New York early next week probably Tuesday - and should
of course be glad to see you, or any representative of yours at any time.

AA you WIffinle, the matter is still open, but I am not at present in a
position to state whether or not we shall be in a position to allow competi-
tive tenders, as has been the case heretofore.

In former years I Should have given the same answer up to the time when
our policy was determined for the particular case, for I am satisfied that
each time you must deal with the existing situation on its merits.

While, therefore, I should be very glad to talk the matter over with
your representative, I should fdel bound to refrain from committing myself
in the slightest degree to any policy, until the time comes for action, When
I shall be forced to adopt and adhere to some definite position.

I greatly appreciate your willingness to participate in our financial
arrangements, and it would give me great pleasure to deal with your firm if
matters took such a turn as to make it possible so to do. You undoubtedly
recognize the complexities of my position, and I trust that you understand
that all that I -am saying is said in the most friendly spirit, but in view
of the necessities of our business situation.

Meanwhile, Fish continued giving information to the Baker...Morgan representatives,

as indicated by his letter to Winsor (of Kidder, Peabo44, dated the following
519

Wednesday, sayings

Enclosed is the schedule that I showed you this morning.

The next day Fish wrote Thayer (though not on the Bell lxecutive Committee, Thayer
520

was a Bell Director and also a director in Coolidge's Old Colony Trust). swing:

I should like very much indeed to have the privilege of half an hour's
talk with you today or tomorrow, if you are accessible. I shall keep any
appointment that you may make.

517. For previous evidence, see p. 147.
518. Ibid., letter, Y. P. Fish to William Salomon. dated January 30, 1906.
519. Ibid., letter, F. P. fish to Robert Winsor, dated January 31, 1906.
520. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. T.

letter, 7. P. Fish to Nathaniel Thayer, dated February 1, 1906.
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Morgan's objection to Speyer's participation with Higginson must have con.

tiaued, for the next day (Thursday), Higginson wrote Fish formally, stating their

position precisely, leaving Fish no alternative but to be placed on notice that he

could get competitive offers, if he were inclined to do so. The Higginson letter to
521

Fish stated:

In order that there may be no misunderstanding about our position. Ibe to soy that, representing a syndicate formed by Messrs. Speyer & Co. ofNew York and ourselves, we would be glad to have an opportunity to bid onsuch new securities as the Telephone Company may contemplate issuing.

At present, we do not know wufficient details as to the character ofthe securities and the amount to be issued, to formulate an offer.

If the Company should desire us to consider the characteristics to begiven the new securities, and to advise the Company as to our opinion,either with or without a bid, we shall be glad to do this.

If we should purchase an issue of securities from you, we should makean especial effort to interest luropean investors; and perhaps it may beof interest to you to know that we should have directly associated with us,and prepared to join with us in offering the securities abroad, amongothers, the following banking interests:

England (London): Speyer Brothers
Holland (Amsterdam): Teixeira de Mattos Brothers
North Germany (Berlin): Deutsche Bank
South German (Frankfort.on.Main): Lazard Speyer-Ellissen

Na are ready to make an offer for these securities on short notice, ifwe are put in a position by the Company to do so.

The advantage possessed by the Baker-Morgan group could, of course, be some.

what diluted if the forthcoming convertible bond issue were followed by large i881101

of voting stock before the bonds became convertible into stock. That some demands

were made for protection on this score is indicated by a letter dated the following

Tuesday (February 6) to Fish from one of his legal advisers. George V. Leverett, in
522

which Leverett said, in part:

521. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 17615,
letter. Lee Higginson & Company to F. P. Fish, dated February 1, 1906.

522. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 16143.
letter, Geo. V. Leverett to F. P. Fish, dated February 6, 1906.
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Since my talk with you by telephone I have been thinking of the ques-
tion which I then raised, in regard to the power of the directors to bind,
by covenant, a corporation not to isiue, within a limited period, any new
stock.

set see * 5 *
It is clear, however, that the directors have not the power to make

any change in the character of the business which the corporation is author-
ized by its charter to do, and any attempt by a board of directors to make
any such change, or even to accept an act authorizing such a change, would
be a nullity. The power in question seems to lie pretty close to the line.
No new stock can be issued without the express authority of the stockholders
and it can be argued that the power lies with the stockholders to say when
the issue shall be made.

set 5 • * * 5 *
In our present case the directors have been authorized by the stock-

holders to issue convertible bonds. Assunine for the moment that it is 

e, it would seem by
analogy with the case above mentioned of the mortgage bonds, that the dir-i
actors ought to have the power to make their issue of convertible bonds
effective by covenanting that the corporation shall do nothing to impair
seriously the value of these bonds.

I am inclined to think that such power exists in the directors, al-
though in the absence of decisions, and so far as I am aware there are none,
the question cannot be conclusively determined. As I stated above, it lies
close to the line.

I presume, as a practical matter, a covenant authorized by the direc-
tors would be effective, as no board of directors, in the face of such a
covenant, would attempt to make an issue of stock.

Of course the wisdom of making such a covenant is an entirely differ-
ent question, and if made, it should be carefully limited. (Underscoring
added)

The last paragraph was particularly significant, for within a year Fish was to find

himself in an uncomfortable position facing limitations which prevented him from get-

ting needed money, and was followed by his resignation from the Presidency.

As will appear later, the agreement which actual4 bound the Company to

sell $150,000,000 of convertible bonds to the beakers was dated two days later, on

Thursday, February 8, 1906. The negotiations, at the last moment, apparently brought

discussions with Jacob Schiff, of Kuhn, Loeb and Company, as indicated by the earn-

est correspondence, a telegram from Fish to Schiff, (dated the next Monday, February
523

12) saying:

411•1••••••••••=.1.111•••••••••
 •••••111=11.

523. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 42, Tele-

?
ram, F. P. Fish to Jacob H. Schiff dated February 12, 1906. On the same daY,ish wired Kuhn, Loeb: "Special delivery letter came about noon yesterday."
Ibid., telegram, F.P.Fish to Kuhn, Loeb & Company, dated February 12, 1906).
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Thank you for telegram. There will be no difficulty in matter to
which you refer in last clause.

Special delivery letter came about noon yesterday.

During the previous week, from Tuesday, February 6, to Monday. February 12, the ne-

gotiations were being completed, for on the same day as this letter to Schiff ack..

nowledging receipt of a special delivery letter from Schiff in New York, Fish wrote
524

Kidder. Peabody in Boston, saying:

I enclose an original of the contract between our Company and the Bank-
ers, dated February 8, duly executed by all parties. A duplicate of this,
likewise duly executed. I have retained. These, of course, are now deliv-
ered and effective.

Please acknowledge receipt.

Two days later, on Wednesday, the agreement was made public, as evidenced by F. P.

Fish's letter to a stockholder asking for the right to purchase bonds, in which Fish
525

said:

Letter received. You have undoubtedly seen in the newspapers what we
have done. In confidence, underwriting price will be ninety-four and a •
half. While I control nothing, shall be glad to put up wuggestion for any
amount you may want.

The full text of the agreement, between the American Telephone and Telegraph Company

and J. P. Morgan and Company, Kuhn. Loeb & Company, Kidder Peabody & Company and Bar-
526

Ing Brothers & Company, Limited, dated February 8, 1906, is given in another report.

The formal contract was supplemented by an informal memorandum, initialed

by F. P. Fish and W. M. Crane, as indicated by F. P. Fish in his letter to Robert

524. ibid., letter. F. P. Fish to Kidder, Peabody & Company, dated February 12, 1906.525. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 42. tele-
gram, F. P. Fish to James B. Speed, dated February 14, 1906.

526. Special Investigation Docket No. 1, Report on "Control of Telephone Comm-deft-
tions". Vol. I, "Control of American Telephone and Telegraph Company", Appen-
dix 10.
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527
Winsor. dated February 19th, saying:

I enclose herewith a copy of the initialed paper, which has been ini—tialed by Senator Crane and myself.

This initialed paper dated February 8, 1937, was an informal commitment by

Fish and Crane to follow the Bankers' suggestions in the use of the borrowed money.
528

and read:

In investing, caring for and depositing the money received from the
sale of bonds the company shall exercise all reasonable precaution, in con—
sultation with the bankers and with their cooperation to depositPand use
so much of it as it shall from time to time not require for the current
purposes of its business, in such a way and in such places as not to dis—
turb or disarrange money market conditions end the Company will seek to
meet the reasonable suggestions of the Bankers in respect to the employment
of the funds. It is understood that the bankers will not suggest deposits
unless such deposits will receive interest at the rate of three per cent.
per annum.

J. P. M
I L & Co
R. W.
F. P. 7.
W. M. C

This arrangement, though probably not unusual in large bank loans, merits

some consideration. The Punds affected by this agreement were borrowed funds, not

owners' capital. As such. they presumably were protected as to principal by adequate

security, and their Use by the management was recompensed by payment of interest.

For these considerations, protection of principal and payment for use, the mamagement

legally assumed responsibility for their employment so as to benefit the owner % of

the business, and not to advance the merger plans of the loaners of capital to the

business. The owners subordinated the entire amount of their investment to safeguard

527. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.V.
letter. F. P. Fish to Robert Winsor, dated February 19, 1906.

528. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Legal Department, File No. 257, agree.
ment dated February 8, 1906, -between American Telephone and Telegraph Company
and J. P. Morgan & Company, Kuhn, Loeb & Company, Kidder, Peabody & Company and
Baring Brothers & Company, Limited.
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the borrowed capital, and their dividends depended upon the prior payment of inter..

est on borrowed capital.

When borrowed capital, which is protected both in principal and interest

before owners' investment is considered, receives the opportunity to direct the em-

ployment of the borrowed funds, it deprives the owners of the right for which they

have sacrificed their security of both principal and dividends .... the right to manage

their business enterprise. The power to direct the use of a large block of a com..

vinyls funds is the power to direct the company's major policies. If ownership rights

are desired by bankers who advance capital, the question properly may be raised as to

whether the bankers' investment should not be placed on a par with the class of secur-

ities whose right, are encroached upon. In this instance, the advance of funds was

followed by a substantial surrender, by the real owners, of the power to manage their
529

company. In effect, this resulted in management control being placed with that

class of invested capital which already had prior protection in security of principal

and payment of interest. The stockholders thus continued to assume the risk of loss

of their capital or dividends, without having the concommitant right completely to

direct management policies. The legal right to elect directors existed, but, am is
530

shown elsewhere, the proxy voting mechanism, in a large corporation with holdings

scattered among many small shareholders, effectively ensured continuation of the then

existing Board of Directors.

amnanv as Truitet.

Immediately after the Agreement became binding, and the Baker-.Morgan group

in New York appeared in control of the negotiations, T. Jefferson Coolilge, Jr. of

Boston appears to have been elbowed to one side, as indicated in J. H. Schiff's
531

letter to P. P. Fish, dated on Saturday of that week, in which he said:

529. See pp. 125 and 168.
530. Cf.Special Investigation Docket No.1, Report on "Control of Telephone Commas

tions", To1.1."Control of American Telephone and Telegraph Company."pp.30 to
531. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 1616'7,

letter. Jacob H. Schiff to P. P. Tish, dated February 17th, 1906.



When the ne,otiations for your Convertible Bond issue were progressing,
I said to Mr. Winsor that we hoped the Old Colony Trust Company would be made
Trustee of the Indenture, under which the bonds were to be issued. Mr.
Winsor replied that this, no doubt, was the understanding, and though I have
little doubt that this intention exists, as I am going away within a few
days, I thought it but proper that I should express to you personally our
earnest hope that the Old Colony Trust Company will be determined upon.

It in proper to say that Mr. Coolidge and Mr. Abbott first brought to
our notice the negotiation in which we have had the advantage to join, and
that, becuase of this, aside of our friendship for these gentlemen, we are
much desirous of seeing this done.

I expect to start on my contemplated journey to Japan next Thursday.
and I hope by the time I return, in the early summer, considerable progress
will have been made in advancing the further stages of the convertible bond
negotiation. In my opinion, you have been most fortunate in the selection
of the time to bring the negotiation, as far as your company is concerned,
to a close. for I think, you would not even now find another opportunity,
as good, as the one which you have .so intelligently embraced. The further
success of this business must now depend upon the showing the American Tele,.
phone & Telegraph Company will be able to make hereafter, but as to this,
we have every faith in its management.

532
Three days later Robert Winsor of Kidder, Peabody & Company wrote F. P. Fish, saying:

Thank you for your note of today. enclosing Mr. Schiff's letter, which
return herewith as requested.

I will take the matter up with Mr. Steele, in New York, on Friday.

Charles Steele was one of J. P. Morgan's partners. P. P. Fish also wanted T. Jeffer..

son Coolidgels Old Colony Trust as trustee, as indicated in his reply to J. H. Schiff,
533

saying, in part:

I thank you for your letter of February 17, which comes to hand today.

It would be entirely satisfactory to us to have the Old Colony Trust
Company selected as the Trust Company with which to deal in in connection with
the convertible bonds. It is almost essential that we should have a Boston
Trust Company, and of course the Old Colony is the one which we should nat—
urally select. I am very glad that you express yourself so cordially in
favor of that company.

Steele insisted upon a New York trustee as shown in his letter to Fish, dated March

532, American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 16168,
letter. Robert Winsor to F. P. Fish, date i February 20th, 1906.

533. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 42,1etter,
F. P. Fish to Jacob H. Schiff, dated February 20. 1906.

A_



534
19, 1906, saying:

-1.57-

In looking over the proposed indenture to secure the issue of convert-
ible bonds, I notice that the Trustee named is the Old Colony Trust Com-
pany which is also Trustee under the previous mortgage of the Company secur-
ing collateral trust bonds. I write to suggest that in view of the require-
ments of the Stock Exchane here in New York, I hope you will ascertain
from them beforehand Whether the fact that the same trustee represents dif-
ferent sets of creditors will be an objection to listing the bonds. I do
not think the objection applies except Where different liens are created
on the same property by different mortgages, but I have always found it
much easier to have it understood beforehand with the Stock Exchange that
there is no objection to the proposed trustee, than if you wait until the
bonds are actually issued.

I cannot help expressing my regret that you see fit to use a Boston
trust company as trustee for this issue of bonds. One of the principal
things to be accomplished, as I understood it, was to broaden the market
for the Company's securities and to remove . the impression very generally
prevailing that it was merely a local Company in New England and not a
company whose operations ,extended all over the country, I cannot avoid the
feeling that it would help the issue of the ponds and the Company gener-
ally if being a New York corporation it should avail of a New York trust
company, thus indicating that its operations were not confined entirely to
New England.

Hot-ewer, Fish did not at once acquiesce, as indicated in his letter to
535

Winsor, saying, in part:

I enclose a letter from Mr. Schiff, which please return. From this
letter it appears that he is strongly in favor of the Old Colony Trust
Company, Which, as you know would be distinctly satisfactory to us.

Mr. Steele intimated to me over the telephone last week that he
thought we should have a New York Trust Company, and said that the Stand-
ard Company, suggested by Mr.. Nathaniel Thayer, would meet with his ap-
proval.

I sincerely hope that the bankers will be unanimous in favor of the
Old Colony Trust Company. It seems to me that we should do the work with
a Boston company, end the Old Colony is the company which naturally would
be selected.

536
Fish subsequently wrote Steele on March 20th, reviewing the subject, saying:

Your letter of March 19 comes to hand this morning.

534. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File 17615,
letter, Charles Steele to F. P. Fish, dated March 19, 1906.

535. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to Robert Winsor, dated February 20, 1906.
36. Ibid., letter. r. P. Fish to Charles Steele, dated March 20, 1906.
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I am extremely sorry that you are not cordially in favor of the Old
Colony Trust Company as Trustee, and I supposed that this matter was de-
finitely settled, with your full concurrence.

Personally, I have felt from the beginning that it would be enormously
more convenient for us to have a Trust Company in Boston act as Trustee;
not only during the process of the issue of the bonds, but at all stages
of their existence; and that if we were to have a Trust Company in Boston,
there could be no question that the Old Colony Trust Company was the one
which, from its standing, prestige, affiliations in various parts of the
world and familiarity with telephone conditions, was that best fitted to
serve.

From the beginning, however, I have recognized the fact that the mat-
ter was one in which the Bankers were intimately interested, and if it had
been their view that there should be a New York Trust Company in the inter-
est of the bonds and of our Company I should undoubtedly have yielded my
own inclinations in favor of their conclusion. I had no reason to suppose,
however, that such was the ease.

After you telephoned to me suggesting the Standard Trust Company, I
spoke to Mr. Winsor on the subject when next I saw him, and found that he
WEIS distinctly in favor of the Old Colony Trust Company.

Incidentally, I also spoke to Mt. 'Meyer, who seemed to be of the opin-
ion that there should be a Boston Trust Company.

On the seventeenth day of February, Mr. Schiff personally wrote me a
letter, of which I enclose all that portion that relates to the selection
of a Trustee.

In view of Mr. Schiff's letter and of Mr. Winsor's viets, I assumed
that all the Bankers had definitely agreed that the Old Colony Trust Company,
should serve, and was confirmed in that assumption by the fact that no objec-
tion was made to the appearance of the name of the Old Colony Trust Company
in the proof of the Indenture.

I very much regret if you do not agree with Mr. Schiff and Mt. Winsor
as to the advisability of this selection.

My awn views were quite definitely stated in a letter I wrote Mr.
Winsor February 20, a copy of which I also enclose.

These negotiations may be summarized, in so far as they were reported

to the stockholders, by quoting from. the Company's annual report, which stated,
537

In . part:

At a special meeting of the stockholders held DeceMber 21, 1905, author-
ity was given to issue convertible bonds of the Company to the amount in the
aggregate of $150,000,000.

537. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Annual Report for the Year, 1905,
P. 19.
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By the terms of a contract dated February 8, 1906, convertible bonds
to the amount of $100,000,000. were sold to Messrs. J. P. Morgan & Company,
Kuhn, Loeb & Company, Kidder, Peabody & Company, and Baring Brothers & Com-
pany, Limited. The terms of the sale were favorable to the Company, and
your Directors believe that the transaction was of distinct advantage to
the Company and to each individual shareholder.

It is expected that the funds provided by this sale will supply the
money required for the development of the business until well into the your
1908, including the payment of $20,000,000 of notes of the company due May
1, 1907.

Reorganization of Bell System Management Personnel 

By the middle of 1906 the Bell Company wns again feeling the financial

strain of its rapid construction program to compete with the Independents, as is in-

dicated in a letter Fish wrote to his associated company presidents, on July 28,
538

1906, saying:

Please write me at your earliest convenience giving me the best idea
you can of the amounts of money you will have to have between now and the
first of January with the dates.

Every day the necessity for retrenchment in expenditures becomes more
and more apparent and I must ask you to do everything you can to help us
in this matter.

I Should suppose that you could also reduce your expenses. For ex-
ample, so large a canvassing force will not be required, for you will prob-
ably seek new subscribers only among those who are willing to take the
higher grade of service, which pays. We should not seek to canvass for
low priced subscribers, excepting in places where there is an exigency.

I hope to sail for Urope on August 8, and shall expect to hear from
you by the end of next week, if I can.

539
Filth sailed for Europe on August 8 end returned October let. Immediately upon

his return he was informed by Coolidge that the financial situation was so changed

that the Directors were considering increasing the Company's dividend rate, as is
540

shown in Coolidge's letter to Fish, dated October 2, 1906, stating:

538. American Telephone end Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.
V, letter, F. P. Fish to C. K. Yost, dated July 28, 1906. Identical or stm-
iler letters were sent by Fish, the same day, to Charles S. Gleed, L. G.
Richardson, H. J. Pettingill, U. N. Bethell, W. T. Gentry, E. B. Field, A.
Burt, E. D. Nims and George Y. Wallace.

539. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book /To.
V, letter F. P. Fish to Hopkins J. Hanford, dated August 7, 1906.

540. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 17620,
letter, T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., to F. P. Fish, dated October 2, 1906.

1
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I enclose copy of my cable to Mr. Waterbury under date of September
19th, and his reply of September 27th, which I thought you might like to
have for your files as indicating the views of absent directors on emit-
ter which I regard as the most important ouestion which has been up for
action by the board of directors of the American Telephone St Telegraph
Company during the five or more years that I have been a member of the
board.

541
The attached cables read:

Waterbury Scribenus Paris

Telephone meeting adjourned today to October second. Declaration dividend
awaits return President. Financial condition much changed since President
and executive committee agreed to recommend continuance old dividend stop
In my opinion most important make dividend regular quarterly two per cent.
Majority directors and bankers now clearly favor this if President agrees.
President sails from Cherbourg Saturday by American Line. Hope you will
discuss matter with him. Have you heard from Baker.

Coolidge.

Cottier Boston

Unable to meet Fish. Wrote him urging advance and immediate action author-
ized hi!q to so record me if desired. Baker favourable. Trust you are well.
Regards.

Waterbury.

The change in the company's financial condition is of interest,for it apparently was

a change for the worse, upon which was based this consideration of an actual increase

in the dividend rate from 71% to 8%. The difficulty of financing the company's cash

requirements WAS indicated by Fish in his correspondence with the Associated Compan-

ies, in which he urged reduction of expenditures and rigid economizing of cash assets.

On December 4, Fish telegraphed Nheeler, Preniaent of the Chicago Telephone Company,
542

saying:

Should declare ten percent. with the 6xpectation, to be announced or
not as the Directors may determine, that the next dividend will be on
eight percent. basis. Believe it wise for you to get money on year's notes
and to largely suspend construction. Matters will move fast in the next
few months.

541. Idem.
'42. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 46, tele-

gram, F. P. Fish to Arthur D. Wheeler, dated December 4, 1906.
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Fish followed this up with a significant afterthought, the same day, in a telegram,
543

saying:

I wish to add to my former telegram that we should prefer not to be
called upon to take now stock in your Company at the present time but shall
undoubtedly be in a position to do so when the conditions are such that it
is wise for you to issue stock

Fish telegraphed Field, President of the Colorado Telephone Company, stating:

Telegram received this morning. Plense do not commit yourself to
further expenditures until you hear from me.

545
To pickernell at the Northwest Telephone Exchange Company, Fish wired:

Missouri and Kansas open account with Western Electric Company increased
two hundred and ten thousand dollars in month of November. Can you not
discreetly get at this matter and stop it?

546
To President Barton of the Western Rectric Company, Fish wrote:

544

I get from Mr. Gleed a statement that you expect to have the note for
$195,000, maturing December 26, paid by the Missouri & Kansas Company; and
you also ask that Company to pay you $400,000 on their open account, that
being the balance for September, October and November.

I think that I can promise you the money for the note, which certainly
should be paid. What is the least that you can reasonably take of the
$400,000 you went on open account?

547
Fish wrote President Durant of the Bell Telephone Company of Missouri, stating:

Please go as slowly as possible with your new work. We simply cannot
make the investment for next year as laid out in your preliminary plan.

By the latter part of December Fish was beginning to feel the pinch of the limita

543. Ibid., second telegram, F. P. Fish to Arthur D. Wheeler, also deted December 4,1906.544. Ibid., telegram, F. P. Fish to E. B. Field, dated December 8, 1906.
545. Ibid., telegram F. P. Fish to F. A. Pickernell, dated December 10, 1906.546. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to E. M. Barton, dated December 10, 1906.547. Ibid. letter, F. P. Fish to George F. Durant, dated December 15, 1906.
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tions in his ability to effect new financing, as indicated in a letter to him dated
548

December 24, 1906 from George V. Leverett, Counsel, saying in part:

You ask me what limitations have been imposed upon the power of this

C11: Company to finance its business.

The most important limitations are to be found in the agreement with
the Bankers for the issue of our convertible four per cent. gold bonds,
and are expressed in the Trust Indenture with the Old Colony Trust Company,
dated March 1, 1906, under which these bonds are issued.

* * * * * * * * *

.... This, of course, is a substantial limit on the power of the Company,
but is not so embarrassing as it would be did not these alleviating provi-
sions, above mentioned, exist.

To sum up, if we do not wish to execute a new mortgage or s new col-
lateral tryst indenture, we may finance the Company as follows:

1. Issue new stock. The security or property obtained with
the proceeds of this new stock we may use without limitation.

2. When our five per cent notes, due May 1, 1907, are paid,
there will be returned into the treasury of the Company $25,000,000.
four per cent collateral trust bonds.

When The American Bell Telephone Company's four per cent bonds, due
July 1, 1908, are paid, we shall have authority to issue $10,000,000. of
these collateral trust four per cent bonds.

With the slight excess of collateral now in the possession of the Old
Colony Trust Company we may issue a few more bonds.

New financing plans 'ere concluded on Monday, January 7, 1907, as indicated by
549

Fish in a letter to Coolidge, written the previous Saturday, in which he said:

I should like it very much if you could arrange to be et my office at
11.30 next Monday, January 7, for a final conference on the matter Which
we have been discussing.

Very important.

The new financing, and the reason therefor, were summarized in the Company's Annual
550

Report which stated, in part:

548. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, "Hall end French Papers", Folder 177,
letter, Geo. V. Leverett to F. P. Fish, dated December 24, 1906.

549. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 46,
letter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., dated January 5, 1907.

550. American Telephone and Telegraph Company,Annual Report for the Year,1906,p.15.
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As stated in the last Annual Report, convertible four per cent, bonds
of the company, to the amount of $100,000,000. were sold in February, 1906.
By the terms Of the contract, bonds to the amount of $30,000,000 were taken
and paid for during that year. Construction work proceeded so rapidly
throughout the country that, during the year, it became necessary for the
company to obtain money on short-time notes to secure the funds required,
in anticipation of the payments on the bonds. On the first of January,
1907, its short-time obligations amounted to about $21,000,000. It also
became evident that if the great commercial development throughout the
country which was taxing the resources of practically every public service
company, and the telephone companies almost more than any other, was to
continue, the proceeds from the bonds would not be sufficient to meet the
necessary expenditures of the company to the end of the year 1907, as had
been expected.

In January, 1907, therefore, the company sold three-year five per cent.
notes to the amount of $25,000,000. These notes were readily placed at a
price that was reasonable in view of the abnormal financial conditions that
have characterized the past year. From the proceeds of the securities
sold, the floating indebtedness of the company will be paid when due, and
on May 1, 1907, the $20,000,000. three-year five per cent. notes of the
company, due that day, will be paid.

Subsequently, Crane indicated the trend which affairs were taking, in a
551

letter torish saying:

Your letter of the 15th instant is received with enclosed copy of one
from Mr. Waterbury which I have read with interest. I egret; with him that
it would be well to have such a committee appointed and I further think
that Mr. Baker and Ur. Coolidge would be excellent selections for two
members of such committee. Mr. Veil should in my opinion be made a member
of that Committee also, and I hope that he will be chosen. I pregame that
you will call this matter to the attention of the Executive Committee today
so that prompt action can be taken.

552
On January 21, 1907, Crane wrote Fish, saying, in part:

I shall appreciate it very much if the Committee will, at its meeting
Wednesday, take favorable action on the letter that you received from Mr.
'Aiterbury, recommending the appointment of a Committee on Organization,
etc., end I suggest that that committee be composed of Messrs. Coolidge,
Baker, Waterbury and Vail. I am sure that they could make suggestions that
would be of value to the Committee and of assistance to you.

Again it is noted that Waterbury had taken the initiative, in proposing the reorgani-

551. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 16825,
letter, W. Murray Crane to F. P. Fiat, dated January 16, 1907.

552. Idem, (attachment).
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zetion committee, this climaxing, with Coolidge, the long period of their service to

the Baker-Morgan group which began in 1902 with the original purchase of 50,000 shares

of Bell stock.

A week later, on January 23, 1907, the Eiccutive Committee passed the fol-
553

lowing resolution:

Resolved: that Messrs. Crane, Baker, Coolidge, Vail and Waterbury be
be reqls to serve as a special committee to consider the organization
of the Company and its relation to the associated companies and to report
to the Executive Committee with recommendations, said special committee to
have authority to employ experts.

The experience and advice which was brought immediately to the attention of

the new committee, is indicated in a letter from Fish to Coolidge, dated January 28
554

1907, in which he said:

Perhaps you would like to look over the enclosed report made by Mr.
Filbert, the Comptroller of the Steel Company, at the request of J. P.
Morgan & Co. I send this to you as interesting to the new committee.
It must be treated as confidential.

The next indication of progress of the reorganization committee is given in a letter
555

from Vail to Fish, dated February 21, 1907, saying:

I send you the dft or skeleton as suggested.
Will you kindly criticise it for us.
kn off for Vermont

"Com, on organization"

It will be recalled that the Higginson-Speyer group in 1904 had advanced
556

the Company $20,000,000 on notes which were to mature on May 1, 1907. Events

developed rapidly by which the Baker-Morgan group secured a complete reorganization

553. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Executive Committee Records, June 8,
1904 to August 27, 1907, Volume No. 4, p. 220, minutes of a regular meeting of
the Executive Committee, held January 23, 1907.

554. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Latter Book No. 46, let-
ter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., dated January 29, 1907.

555. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 16936,
letter, Theodore N. Vail to F. P. Fish, dated February 20, 1907.

556. See footnote 407.
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of the Company, just prior to the maturity of these notes.

Up until as late as March 6th, Fish apparently had no intimation of what
557

wee in store for him. On that date he wrote Waterbury, saying, in part:

At its meeting this morning, the Executive Committee resolved infor-
mally to ask Mr. Nathaniel Thayer, yourself and myself to consider the
question of Directors. Mr. Thayer will be glad to help in the matter and
plans to call on you at eleven-thirty Friday morning.* * * * * * * * *

The general feeling of the Executive Committee was that it would be
better not to have bankers selected but first class commercial men of high
standing, if we can get them; also that preference should be given to those
who are active in New York rather than in Boston.

On the twenty-sixth of that month, Fish was re-elected President for the

coming year and the Executive Committee members (Fish, Amory, Howe, Cochrane and
558

Crane) were re-elected.

Three days after his re-election as President, Fish presented "important

suggestions" on the plan of reorganization, of which Vail had given him a draft, on

February 21st. The copy of this original plan of organization, with which Fish ap-

parently disagreed, has not been found among the Company's records. In the absence

of any records showing Fish's position on the unknown proposed plan, it is of inter-

est to note the candid expression of Fish's "very strict notions about the duties and

responsibilities of an officer of a large corporation," as expressed a year before by

C. A. Stone, of Stone and iebster, in writing to J. W. Castles, President of the Guar-

anty Trust Company of New York. In this letter, Stone stated, in part:

I have just written you in
I thought it better to put what
letter.

* * *

I had a talk with Mr. Fish
various matters which you and I

559

reference to the Staten Island matter, but
I had to say about Mr. Fish in a separate .

* * * * * *
about the Guaranty Trust Company and the
discussed. He was very much interested and

557. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.V,
letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated March 6, 1907.

558. American Telephone end Telegraph Company, Directors' Records, May 11, 1900 toMarch 31, 1908, Vol. 3, pp. 237 and 238, minutes of a special meeting of the
Directors held March 26, 1907.

559. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 17615,letter, C. A. Stone to J. W. Castles, dated March 6, 1906.
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would be glad to meet you when it is convenient. If you wish I can make an
appointment for him to meet you some time, or you can write him directly
and refer to my conversation with him about you and your Company. He has
very strict notions about the duties and responsibilities of an officer of

a large corporation, and he feels that he would not be inclined to take any
interest in a Trust Company, or other institution of that sort, which might
possibly have business relations with the Telephone Company. Re is, and al-
ways has been, most punctilious in matters of this sort; in fact has for
many years maintained an attitude quite the opposite from some of our New
York friends. It think it quite probable, if you were to know him, that
you could, when oocasion arose, establish most satisfactory business rela-
tions with the parent Telephone Company, and besides that I should suppose
that the sub companies with their vast interests in different emotions of
the United States would find it desirable to be closely allied with some
large financial institution in New York.

I have talked with him about our plan of establishing Trust Companies
in different cities. and I think if it seems wise he would be glad to 000p-
orate with us as far as possible, but probably not by making anY personal
investments in the undertaking.

Subsequent events, as will be shown, indicated that Fish's 'important sug-

gestions' on the proposed plan were not acceptable. The immediately following step

of the reorganization committee appeared to be to gain a oontrolling voice on the

Executive Committee by adding Vail and Waterbury to the committee, in which Crane al-

ready was included. The first action in this direction was indicated in the reorgan-

ization committee's reply. on April 2d, to Fish's letter of March 26th, in which was
560

stated:

Referring to the outline organization submitted by the undersigned,
and acknowledging your favour of the 29th ult., presenting important sug-
gestions with respect thereto, the Committee desires to say that they have
given the subject further consideration and are of the opinion that the
subject should be dealt with by the Executive Committee directly.

That Committee is in ()lose contact with the affairs and administration
of the Company, with opportunities for observation, and prompt considera-
tion of all matters affecting the organization which may not be enjoyed by
the special committee.

To facilitate consideration of the subject by the Executive Committee,
and enable it to meet the increased labour imposed, the undersigned recom-
mend that the said Committee be increased in number not to exceed seven

560. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 16851,
letter, Geo. F. Baker, John I. Waterbury, W. M. Crane, Theo. N. Vail and T.
Jefferson Coolidge, Jr., to F. P. Fish, dated April 2, 1907.
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including the President, and, as the subject, as so clearly set forth in
your letter, demands consideration in every particular and from every point
of view, the Committee may appoint a Chairman in order that the organiza-
tion may be formulated without interfering with the regular business of the
Company.

Inasmuch as the By Laws will have to be amended to permit such in-
crease of number the undersigned recommend, pending an amendment to the
By Laws, that the Board appoint one or more Associate Members of the
Executive Committee to attend its meetings and assist in determining a
plan of organization and in the consideration of any other matters concern-
ing the interests of the Company, and to unite with the Executive Committee
is reporting to the Board.

Yours very truly,
Geo. F. Baker
John I. Waterbury
W. M. Crane
Theo N. Vail
T. Jefferson Coolidge,Jr.

Fish apparently believed himself still in full command of the situation,

on April 4th, as is indicated by the tenor of his letter of instruction on "prin-
561

ciplea of organization" to Vail, which read:

Mx. Waterbury sends me the enclosed copy of By-laws of the United
States Steel Corporation, which I should like to have you read as throwing
light upon principles of organization.

The Executive Committee then consisted of Fish, Cochrane, Howe, Crane and

Amory. Crane has been noted as working closely in touch with Waterbury and Coolidge.

Subsequent events indicated that Amory was more in agreement with Crane than were

Cochrane and Howe. Assuming the remaining three, Fish, Cochrane and Howe, might not

have been so favorably disposed toward the Baker-Morgan group, the addition of two

favorable members would have changed Fish's three-to-two majority to a three-to-four

minority.

The day after the April 2nd report of the Reorganization Committee, the
562

Executive Committee accepted the report. At the following meeting of the full

561. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.
VI, letter, F. P. Fish to Theodore N. Vail, dated April 4, 1907.

562. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Executive Committee Records, June 8,
1904 to August 27, 1907, Vol. No. 4, p. 240, minutes of a regular meeting of
the Executive Committee, held April 3, 1907.
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board, April 9th, the handwriting onthe well apparently was revealed, for Cochrane

and Howe resigned from the Eiecutive Committee, and were immediately replaced by
563

raterbury and Veil. At the next meeting of the board (April 30, 1907) Fish like-

wise resigned from the Presidency, from the Executive Committee, and from the Board

of Directors although he had just been re-elected to these positions a month before.

Vail was elected promptly to his piece as President. The vacancy on the Executive

Committee was not filled, so that Vail had Crane, Howe and Waterbury with him on
564

the Committee. The representatives of the Baker-Morgan group thus attained con-

trol over the management policies of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company.

The Higginson-Speyer notes matured the next day and were paid from the

proceeds of funds from the bonds sold to the Baker-Morgan group. At /he next meet-

ing of the Board, Waterbury's Manhattan Trust was appointed New York agent for regia-
565

tration of the Company's stock,
566

anty Trust, saying:

whereupon Vail wrote the former agents the Guar-

By virtue of a vote of the Board of Directors of the American Tele-
phone and Telegraph Company, passed May 14, 1907, I beg to notify you that
I have appointed the Manhattan Trust Company as the New York agent for the
registration of the stock of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company,
such appointment to take effect lune 1, 1907, your duties in that regard
ceasing on May 31st.

In reply to a protest from the replaced agent, Vail again wrote them, say-
567

ing:

Replying to yours of May 21, I can only say that conditions sometimes
arise in the business world which result in change, even with the most
pleasant and cordial relations, without in the least possible way implying
or indicating anything that is disparaging or unfriendly.

563. American Telenhone and Telegraph Company, Directors' Records, May 11, 1900 to
March 31, 1906, Vol. 3i p. 241, minutes of a special meeting of the Board of
Directors, held April 9, 1907.

564. These four served continuously on the Executive CoMmittee,for the remainder of
their lives; Vail died April 16, 1920; Crane on October 2, 1920; Waterbury on
March 4, 1929; and, Howe on March 2, 1931 (American Telephone and Telegraph
Company, Secretary's Office, list of Directors dated November 1, 1934.)

565. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Directors' Records, May 11, 1900 to
March 31, 1908, Vol. 3, p. 241, minutes of a special meeting of the Board of
Directors, held May 14, 1907.

566. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 48, let-
ter, Theo. N. Vail to Guaranty Trust Company of New York, dated May 16, 1907.

567. Ibid., letter, Theo. N. Vail to J. W. Castle, President, Guaranty Trust Com-
pany of New York, dated May 29, 1907.
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CHAPTER VII

REDUCTION OF TELEPHONE COMPETITION THROUGH
FINANCIAL PRESSURE UPON INDEPENDENTS

The oontinuanoe of financial control over the management of the American

568
Telephone and Telegraph Company after 1907 is treated in detail in another report,

and need not be repeated here. The proxy meohanism served to move effective manage-

ment control from the stockholders into the hands of the directors, while the exec-

utive committee members, plus any other two members, constituted a quorum (six),

with the complete powers of the full board.

Another report shows that the American Telephone and Telegraph Company
569

uontrolled the associated Bell companies, and still another report indicates that

the-remaining independent companies eventually became amenable to, if not actually

570
a praotioal oo-operating past of the Baker-Morgan controlled Bell System.

Baker-Morgan Assooiation With Telephone-Telegraph Combination.
571

Control of the Western Union Company waa purchased from Uould late in 1909,

and a telephone-telegraph combination under control of the Baker-Morgan group became

an accomplished fact. Some review may now be made of the relation of the Morgan

firm to this combination plan in brief perspective.

On Marc:1h 4, 1903, within a year after Waterbury had arranged for the Baker-
572

Morgan purchase of 50,000 Bell shares, Steele, a Morgan partner, wrote Fish, Bey-
573

Ing:

I enclose a copy of a letter which we have received from some one who
is quite unknown to us. My only reason for submitting it to you is to ask your

568. Speoial Investigation Docket No. 1, Report on "Control of Telephone Communioa-
tions," Vol. I: "Control of Auerioan Telephone and Telegraph Company."

569. Ibid., Vol. II: "Administrative Control of the Associated Bell Telephone
Companies.'

570. Ibid., Vol. III: "Control of Independent Telephone Companies."
571. Ibid., Vol. I: "Control of American Telephone and Telegraph Company," pp. 71

to 75.
572. See p. 101.
573. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 13277,

letter, Charles Steele to F. P. Fish. dated March 4, 1903.
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view as to the practicability and advisability of endeavoring to do anything
with independent telephone lines. The suggestion of the writer as to any
plans which we might have in regard to the telephone and telegraph companies
is of course purely imaginary.

The attached memorandum, with no signature, was an ambitious plan to consolidate the

574
independent telephone companies, and stated, in parts

If, as is reported the firm of J. P. Morgan & Co. and certain of its
members individually have large stockholdings in the American Telephone &
Telegraph Company, I hope that the within suggestion will prove of interest
in that it shows a manner in which such interests may be protected, and. if
the report is erroneous. I trust that the said suggestion contains sufficient
merit to warrant your consideration.

Independent telephone companies, those opposing the Bell Telephone Sys-
tem, are to be found in all parts of the United States, except in Southeast-
ern New York, certain New England States and in a few cities in other parts
widely separated from each other.

* * *5* see
It is estimated that the investment in independent telephone enterprises

is about one hundred million dollars and as new capital is constantly being
added to the new system, more rapidly than to the Bell System, it is fair to
presume that the investment in the former will soon equal that in the latter.
Viewed as a whole the independent telephone movement has met with success,
and success has been won notwithstanding the fact that the business of the
opposition telephone is oonducted by thousands of separate companies. each of
which is absolutely independent of the others, and while opposing a system
that is under the control and direction of the American and Telegraph Company.
If these independent companies, or a majority of them, were placed under the
control of a company having power to direct their business, as is done today
by the American Telephone and Telegraph Company in the interest of its licen-
sees, then indeed would the Bell Telephone System have a rival equal to any
circumstance. And the consolidation of the numerous independent telephone
companies is not only possible, but is thoroughly feasible, besides being a
most attractive business investment.

*5* * • * see
Some time ago it was the practice of financiers to secure numerous short

and, when individually considered, unimportant railways and then to consolidate
these various railways into a great trunk line system. The railway situation
of a few years ago is that of the independent telephone movement of today;
the material, the conditions for a splendid business enterprise are to be found
in these numerous telephone properties now successfully competing for their
share of the telephone business.

Experience, sometimes costly, has shown the American Telephone & Tele-
graph Company that the competition which its licensees are meeting cannot be
crushed; that the opposition is in just as good condition as the older system

574 Idem.
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for the struggle for supremacy. That the Bell System is to do is, no doubt,
a problem giving its management much concern; it cannot acquire these rival
companies because, in place of a majority of the enterprises so absorbed,
others would immediately spring into existence. and it cannot crush them.
But one course seems to be open to the Bell System, if it hopes ever to re-
gain control of, or be the prime factor in the telephone situation of the
country, and that is to foster the project of consolidating these numerous
independent telephone companies; and when that is accomplished, that system,
as well as the combined independents, to be merged into one great telephone
enterprise. If the Bell System does follow this course and the consolidation
of these independent enterprises is accomplished by interests not in touch
with the Bell System the combined independents will probably be the prime
factor in the great oonsolidation that is inevitable.

Elimination of Competition in Ohio and Indiana.

When Vail came into the presidency after the reorganization in 1907, he hinted

at the action which would be taken in Ohio and Indiana, the territory of the Central

Union Telephone Company, in a letter to President Richardson of that company, in which
575

Vail stated:

We have been pouring funds into the Central Union territory for years
with some results, but nothing very tangible, and now we must have recourse
to some other efforts and exert them as freely as we did our spending efforts.
While the firing line does not see all that is going on. yet they have pretty
close touch with the situation from their standpoint which must be considered
in giving them directions.

The actual subsequent activity of the Morgan firm, in connection with the ac-

quisition of independent telephone companies, is shown in the report of an agent of the
576

United States Attorney General's Office, which read, in part, as follows:

At conferences held in the latter part of 1910 between President Vail of
the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Mr. Davison of Morgan & Company,
and representatives of the independents, Mr. Vail said that he wanted to bring
about a merger of all telephone companies of the United States and thus do
away with ruinous competition.

575. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. VI.
letter, Theo. N. Vail to L. G. Richardson, President of Central Union Telephone
Company, Indianapolis, Indiana, dated February 25, 1908.

576. Office of the Attorney General, File 60-1-0, Volume 4, report dated July 24. 1912.
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At first the Bell companies, considering themselves well entrenched,
ignored the independent companies, then feeling the competition keen, to cut
rates, in some cases actually giving their services for some period. Inde-
pendent infringement suits were also brought both against the operating com-
pany and the manufacturer but by far the great number of these were decided
in favor of the defendants, though their defense cost the independents heav-
ily. The Western Electric Company refused to sell appliances to the inde-
pendents and in some instances the Bell Company would try to buy the right
of way which had been selected by the independents for their lines. When Mr.
Vail became President of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company in 1907,
a radical change of policy was made by that company: (1) The Western Electric
Company would sell equipment to the independents; (2) Competition was to be
limited through mergers in strategic localities. The Bell would either buy
or sell the local exchanges and lines but must take over the toll lines and
control the long distanoe service. A merger usually resulted in increased
local rates. Pursuant to this policy, many mergers were made. On purchasing
a line, the Bell Company would either physically merge the two exchanges or
continue them both. In the latter event, it would either refuse to make con-
nections with independent lines, sometimes in violation of existing contracts
or would nominally make the connections but let the system go to ruin, fail
to keep up repairs and delay connections so that its service was practically
worthless and finally the plant would be wrecked. So long as it lasted the
company would buy its supplies from the Western Electric Company.

A few of the important mergers, actual or contemplated, were then mentioned and de-

scribed, for illustration:

(1) The Keystone system in Philadelphia. This company in Philadelphia
connected with the Maryland Telephone Company in Baltimore, which was acquired
in 1907 by the Bell Company, permitted to deteriorate and its subscribers re-
peatedly went over to the Bell and finally when the connecting line was partly
destroyed by storm the Maryland Company refused to repair, cutting off Keystone
from the south and destroying its investment with the Wilmington line. Key-
stone sought connections with independent lines at Jersey City but those lines
were bought by Bell. Keystone's only remaining outlet, the Western Maryland
Company at Cumberland, was then purchased by Bell and Keystone was hemmed in
on al] sides.

The Ohio-Indiana Companies

The United States Long Distance Telephone Company at Cleveland, an inde-
pendent company. connects 400 independent exchanges in Ohio, and through con-
tracts, furnishes long distance service into adjoining states. In 1909, this
company, together with a number of local companies, including the Cuyahoga
Company of Cleveland, the Columbus Citizens Company, the Home Company of Detroit,the Toledo Home Company, and the Long Distance Company of Indianapolis, and the
Indianapolis Telephone Company were sold to, and are now held. by Morgan and
Company. The attempt was first made to sell them to the American Telephone and
Telegraph Company; that company refused but procured R. L. Day and Company ofNew York to buy the companies for some seven million dollars and immediately
loaned to that firm a sum equal to the purchase prioe, guaranteed them againstloss, and took an option to buy the properties; suits were then filed in Ohioto stop the sales to them whereupon Morgan and Company bought the securities.
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Davison, a member of the Morgan firm, is a director of the Bell Company and
it is generally believed that these securities are held for that company and
will ultimately be turned over to it.

Ce. • • al * • *

Several companies so acquired, or about to be acquired, have assets eas-
ily running over twenty-five million dollars. They are the larger and strong-
er of the independent companies and, if the acquisition of the Bell companies
is permitted, a decisive blow will be dealt to the hope of the Independents
of furnishing a permanent long distance service... .These mergers are apparently
the result of negotiations above mentioned which were opened in 1910 between
the Bell interests and the independents. Meetings were held both in New York
and in Chicago and were attended by Mr. Vail of the American Telephone and
Telegraph Company and Mr. Davison of Morgan and Company, and representatives
of the independents. At one meeting Mr. Vail said his company was ready to
merge its properties with those of the independent companies whenever there
were competing exchanges as soon as such mergers could legally be made and Mr.
Davison announced that his firm was ready to purchase for cash such indepen-
dent companies as soon as the mergers could legally take place. Vail asked
that pending these negotiations all litigation be stopped and that everybody
cooperate to secure legislation to permit the mergers. The independent manu-
facturers, who also attended these meetings, naturally wanted to know what
was to become of them. Vail replied that he could not legally buy their
plants but he gave them the impression that some plan would be arranged to
take care of them; he said that he did not want any "sore spots' and would
willingly pay twenty-five million dollars or more to have his plans succeed,
with the support and good will of all the independent interests, rather than
have the present destructive competition continue.

. While the independents were suspicious of the Bell interests, they ap-
pointed a committee of seven to continue the negotiations. The negotiations
were finally dropped but the r8sult as might have been expected was that most
of the individuals composing the committee of seven agreed to sell their own
properties which are among those above mentioned. A list (Exhibit T) at-
tached to the Special Agent's report shows 128 independent companies situated
in twelve states which have in the last few years been sold to the Bell com-
pany, and this is by no means a complete list.

Further substantiation of the Morgan firm's efforts to eliminate oompetition

is found in a letter written by that firm to Vail, reviewing their efforts in the Ohio-
577

Indiana case, and stating, in part:

It seems desirable that we present to you in this form a brief statement
of the transactions relating to telephone properties which have been the sub-
ject of many interviews with yourself and Mr. Kingsbury, as a result of which
transactions we believe we are entitled to receive from your Company the pay-
ments to be mentioned later herein.

577. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, Executive Department Files, letter. J.
P. Morgan & Co. to Theodore N. Vail, dated August 9. 1915.
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In'December, 1909, our financial assistance was solicited by your Com-
pany in carrying out a plan which one of your officials presented to us, hav-
ing reference to fifteen or more telephone companies operating in Ohio and
Indiana, the control of whioh companies had shortly before been acquired by
R. L. Day & Co. under some arrangement with your Company, the particulars of
which were unknown to us.

* C.. • • *
Under these circumstances, being advised by our counsel that there was

no legal objection to our purchase of the securities from R. L. Day & Co.,
and desiring to be helpful in the matter, and relying on the statements made
to us, as before mentioned, respecting the value of the securities and the
income from the same, we promptly bought them from R. L. Day & Co. at a cost
of approximately $7.300,000, in the belief that such action on our part was
in the interest of the general telephone situation from the standpoint of
the public, and in the mistaken belief, based on the information previously
received from the officials of your Company, that so long as we retained the
securities - which we were willing and prepared to do at least until exist-
ing conditions changed - we would have a profitable investment.

Subsequently, in 1910, on amount of the relation of these companies to
the general telephone situation, in pursuance of a plan agreed upon by the
telephone interests generally, including those you represent. your Company
agreed with us that when it could lawfully do so it would purchase the secu-
rities from us at cost to us, plus interest and plus $1.000,000.

In 1911 the laws of Ohio on the subject of telephone mergers were amend-
ed, so that since that time it has been lawful for your Company to acquire
the securities of the Ohio companies, as for some time it has been also with
respect to the securities of the Indiana companies.

In the meantime, however, conditions had arisen which compelled a change
in your policy, and rendered it impracticable or inadvisable for your Company
to purchase these securities.

* * • • • * * •
We call your attention also to the agreement of your Company with us.

evidenced by our letter to you of November 17th. 1910, and your reply thereto,
to which we refer, whereby we undertook to render financial and other assis-
tance in connection with the proposed acquisition by your Company or its al-
lied companies of other telephone properties in the United States, for which
undertaking we were to receive from your Company 3t of the value of the physi-
cal properties which it acquired. As is well known to you, we fully performed
our undertaking in that connection and rendered assistance of great value to
your Company.

The effectiveness of the 'Ohio deal' in breaking the competition of indepen-

dent telephone companies, was gleefully reported to Vail by the president of his subsi-
578

diary company, in Illinois, in a letter stating. in part:

578. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 18090, let-ter, B. E. Sunny to Theodore N. Vail, dated November 19, 1909.
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One of the signs of the times was a call last Monday from Mr. Kenfield,
who has made a good deal of money out of the publication of electrical trade
journals the past twenty years. and who wanted my views as to the future of
Independent Companies.

C.. C.. C..
I saw him at lunch today. and he thought that things looked decidedly

blue. No money is to be had in any direction for opposition telephone enter-
prises. and there was a generally discouraged feeling throughout the ranks
of the Independents. The Ohio deal and the Western Union coup were surely
body blows.

I think that you found the "key pieoe" that you were looking for.

Vail agreed with Bunny's analysis, and appeared well satisfied with himself.
579

as is indicated in his reply to Sunny. in which he said, in part:

Yours of the 19th inst. is received, and the information contained there—
in is rather gratifying.

I certainly believe that the effect could not but be more or less discon—
certing. Although the talk around here is that the combination have plenty of
money. I have seen no evidenoe of it, except I think it is pretty well estab-
lished that among them they managed to secure the control of about $2,000.000..
but what is $2.000,000 in this business.

This evidence of the efforts of investment capital representatives to control

the entire field of investment and exclude competition, may now be compared with the

background data presented in Chapter III, which pointed out this tendency in other

fields. The telephone industry is shown to be no exception to this general oondition.

Prevention of the Financing of Competition.

One of the methods by which investment capital may attain a monopoly in its

field of investment is to prevent or hinder the flow of capital and credit into the

hands of those in opposition to its plans. Evidence of such action on the part of the

Baker-Morgan group will be given.

G. M. Cumming, who had been recommended to Fish by partners of the Morgan

firm and became a Vice President of the Bell Company. wrote Fish on April 7, 1907,

579. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 9, letter.Theo. N. Vail to B. E. Sunny, President, Chicago Telephone Company. datedNovember 23, 1909.
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580
saying:

This morning Mr. E. E. Machette of Kansas City, Mo., Traffic Manager of
the beef packing company known as the Schwarzschild & Sulzberger Company,
called to see me in regard to obtaining a private telephone wire for his com-
pany from New York to Chicago and from Chicago to Kansas City; also in regard
to relations between the large packing companies in Kansas City and the local
telephone company at that point.

He said that his company was willing to pay $22.000. for the line de-
sired and that your people demanded $26,000. if my memory serves me, and he
of course desires to obtain a reduction to about the amount which he offers.

He also said that the opposition company at Kansas City had approached
the packers with the view to making an allianoe with them and for that pur-
pose had offered the packers a considerable interest in the new telephone
company's stock amounting, I believe. to $100,000 - of nominal par value.
He added, however, that the packing companies, including his own, woad nat-
urally favor the Bell Company and suggested that an arrangement should be
made between the large packing oompanies and the local Bell people, or the
American Telephone and Telegraph Co., by which the owners of the packing com-
panies could become interested in the securities of the Bell oompanies and
consequently favor the Bell companies in every way in opposition to the new
local company.

His idea of course is that the packing companies should be enabled to
purchase the securities at advantageous prices, in order that they might ben-
efit by the transaction and he thinks that if the packers adhere to the Bell
company, the grain men will naturally follow their lead and as a result the
new opposition company would not be able to make much headway against the
Bell Co. in Kansas City.

He suggested also, that this alliance would tend to discourage or per-
haps prevent the construction of the new long distance line from Kansas City
to Chicago via St Louis and further, that it would place the very powerful
local political influence of the packing compftnies at the service of the Bell
company at Kansas City and thus enable the Bell company to protect its own
interests more completely than has heretofore been the case.

I know nothing whatever about the telephone situation in Kansas City but
am of course very familiar with the strength of the packing interests and
think it would be desirable to form an alliance with them at that point, ifit can be done on a proper and advantageous basis.

Subsequently, December 23, 1902, Fish wrote George F. Durant, General Manager
581

of the Bell Telephone Company of Missouri. saying:

580. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 1336', letter,G. M. Cumming to American Telephone and Telegraph Company. dated April 7, 1902.581. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Lotter Book No. II,letter, F. P. Fish to Geo. F. Durant. dated December 23, 1902.
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I am informed from a reliable source that even now it may be possible
to block the Kansas City financing if we can find some way to pull out A. W.
Lambert, Treasurer of the Lambert Pharmacal Company who has subscribed or
underwritten to the amount of $100.000....

I am also informed that E. L. Benoist, of the Germania Trust Company,
is the man who had the most to do with the financing of the Kansas City en-
terprise....

Can you make any suggestions as to how to approach these men, either inSt. Louis or from Boston or New York?'

I wish something could be done to block the Kansas City deal.

An independent telephone company was started in Milwaukee, and as will later

appear, gained the financial support of one George R. Sheldon before 110 had learned the

identity of the protectors of his adversary, the Bell Company. The correspondence on

this subject begins rather abruptly in the middle of the series of events, but the sub-

sequent letters afford a clear insight into the methods by which possible sources of

capital for competing companies may be induced to retire.

On June 18. 1902, less than three months after his purchase of 90,000 shares
582

of Bell stock. Baker wrote Fish, saying:

I could not see Mr. Sheldon till this afternoon, & I shall be glad to
arrange for you to meet him any time you are in N. Y. I do not think he ismuch interested in promoting this Co. & will be very willing to see it dropped
rather than be in opposition to his friends here - the others. except Mr.
Hanford. are I judge as you said equally or more lukewarm. If Mr. Hanford canbe gotten out of the situation I am sure the rest of the way will be easy sail-ing.

583
Fish replied:

Your note of June 18 came duly to hand this morning. I am under greatobligations to you for the interest you have taken in this matter.

582. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, 'Hail and French" papers, Folder No.133,letter, Geo. F. Baker to F. P. Fish, dated June ie. 1902.583. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No. I.letter, F. P. Fish to George F. Baker. dated June 19, 1902.
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I shall call on you sometime tomorrow but will take no more of your val-uable time than is absolutely necessary.

Fish also asked the Morgan firm to bring pressure to bear upon Sheldon, as
584is indicated in Fish's letter to Steele, stating:

I am under great obligation to you for seeing Mr. Sheldon and for accom-plishing so much with him.

If the matter had not been one of substantial importance I should nothave troubled you with it.

Fish announced the success of his efforts in a letter to Charles F. Pfister.
585at Milwaukee, in which he said, in parts

I have good reason to believe that Mr. Sheldon is not inclined to per-sist in the Milwaukee enterprise with reference to which you and I talkedlast week.

A more complete explanation of these events was given in a letter from Alonzo
658Hurt, a Hell company manager in the middle west, to Fish, in which he said, in part:

I wired you from Milwaukee that Mr. Pfister had received a letter fromMr. Sheldon. Mr. Pfister sent me word on Thursday that he would like to seeme, and when I met him he gave me kr. Sheldon's letter to read.

The substance of the letter is that Mr. Sheldon had been called upon byone of the partners of Mr. J. P. Morgan. and another banker friend, who in-sisted that he not engage in the telephone business as to do so would inter-fere with their interests, also that you had called upon him but he missedseeing you. Mr. Sheldon asked Mr. Pfister to adjust the matter with Hanfordin eons way, and he thought that Hanford should be at least reimbursed forthe outlay he had made in exploiting the Milwaukee matter. The letter endedby wishing Pfister success politically and asking him to call when he cameto New York.

Pfister expressed great satisfaction that Mr. Sheldon had expressed awillingness to "lie down' as Pfister termed it. Pfister referred to your con-versation with him and said: "I would a good deal rather be hitched up with

584. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to Charles Steele, dated June 19, 1902.585. Ibid., letter. F. P. Fish to Chas. F. Pfister, dated June 21, 1902.586. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 12610, letter.A. Hurt to F. P. Fish. dated June 28, 1902.
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a man who controls one hundred and fifty millions than with a little fellow
like Hanford.' So that you will see that your talk with Pfister made a dis-
tinct impression. Mr. Pfister said that he would fix up matters with Hanford
in some way and would report. and that he would take care of the situation at
Milwaukee. As a precaution, however. Mr. Morgan* has arranged with Pfister's
first lieutenant to keep an eye on the situation in detail and report at any
time that there is any indication of further effort from Hanford or other par-
ties.

S. *

Mr. Morgan and myself saw Pfister together, and we arranged that Mr.
Morgan should send him a contribution to his campaign fund in the sane amount
contributed by the Milwaukee Gas Company. This pleased Pfister, and his lieu-
tenant told us afterwards that the 'old man' thought we were all right.

5** • • * * * *
Without opposition in Milwaukee I am confident that we can mike inroads

on the opposition throughout the state.
CS. * * * * * *
Altogether I am encouraged over the situation and congratulate you on the

success of your talk with Pfister and your efforts with Sheldon.

* Not J. P. Morgan, but probably D. F. Morgan. of the Bell
subsidiary, Northwestern Telephone Exchange Company.

The value of this financial pressure upon those who were inclined to finanoe

587competition was indicated in Burt's letter to Fish, in which he said, in parts

You may know that your telegram, saying that the New. York party had a-
greed to withdraw from the Milwaukee situation, was welcome news.

I have talked by telephone with Mr. Morgan, and he is quite sanguine
that if these parties will do as they have agreed we will be able to hold the
situation at Milwaukee during the life of the present administration.

Sheldon gave a history of the independent telephone company's effort to get a

franchise, and showed that the intervention of Messrs. Baker and Morgan was the direct
588

cause of the reversal of those plans. in a letter to Fish. stating, in part:

I was very sorry to have been out when you called at my office some weeksago in regard to the telephone situation in Milwaukee. The history of that
concern is as follows:

587. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letterlile No. 12576. let-ter, A. Burt to F. P. Fish, dated June 20. 1905.
588. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, "Hall and French" papers, Folder No.133. letter, George R. Sheldon to F. P. Fish, dated July 30, 1902.
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More than a year ago Mr. Hanford came to me bringing letters of intro-
duction from friends of mine. He had been successful with individual tele-
phone companies in other cities and was coniident that Milwaukee was a most
promising field. After consultation with Mr. Pfister, I agreed to back up
the enterprise and deposited in Milwaukee, $50,000. and we then started in in
our efforts to get a franchise. This franchise would have been unanimously
passed had not Mr. George F. Baker and Mr. Perkins of Messrs. J. P. Morgan &
Company seen me at the time they did. As they probably told you, my relations
with the First National Bank and Messrs. J. P. Morgan & Company are such that
I could not be in the position of actively pushing an opposition to their in-
terests in Milwaukee and I, therefore, withdrew.

We have spent in organization, expenses, etc. about $4,000. This, I
think the Bell Telephone Company should refund to us. Of course, Mr. Baker,
Messrs. J. P. Morgan & Company or the Bell Telephone Company Can not pay Mr.
Pfister or me anything for withdrawing from the situation and for using our
influence in opposing any individual telephone company franchise in Milwaukee.
I am under no legal obligations to Mr. Hanford but I feel a very strong moral
obligation from the fact that I agreed to back him in his enterprise and he
has spent a year in active work in his efforts to gain the franchise and now
by my action all his time and work have been given for nothing.

I feel that something ought to be done by your people for Mr. Hanford.

I have just had a conversation with Mr. Perkins on this subject and he
agrees with me.

Sheldon later wrote Fish a letter professing willingness to dissociate himself
589

completely from the 'enemies" of the potently backed Bell company, saying:

I have just returned to New York and shall be happy to see you any time
that you may be in the City. Will you kindly give me a day's notice so that
I will be sure to be on hand. While I feel under obligations to Mr. Hanford,
I certainly do not expect you to do anything for him if he is to continue as
an enemy to the interests of your Company. I shall be very glad if we can
find some means of letting me out of my obligations to him.

Subsequently. the Bell people turned this episode to their advantage by en-

listing Hanford and Sheldon in their aid, as "informers" in the ranks of the indepen-

59dents, as will appear. On September 9, 1902. Sheldon wrote Fish. saying:
0

589. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 12676.letter, George R. Sheldon to F. P. Fish, dated August 19, 1902.590. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 12816,letter, George R. Sheldon to F. P. Fish, dated September 9. 1902.
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This will introduce to you Mr. H. J. Hanford whom you know by reputa.-

tion and towards whom as you know I consider myself under obligations in

regard to the Milwaukee matter.

The subsequent work of Hanford and Sheldon in Now York City independent

telephone efforts is indicated in a letter from Fish to Charles F. Cutler (President

591

of the New York Telephone Company), in which he said:

I get the following letter as to a report that Mr. Hanford made to the

Kellogg Company with reference to New York:

'Mr. Hanford talked with Messrs. (James B.) Dill, (George R.)

Sheldon and (C.N.) Morse, and went over the conduit layout with

them. He became very enthusiastic over the underground work which

is being done in New York and over the wonderful opportunity for

independent extension which would be given as soon as the franchise

was secured from the city, the franchise being assured under the

next city administration, provided that Tamany rules.

Mr. Hanford reports that the Stromberg-Carlson people and the

Automatic Electric Company are already working tooth and nail for

the apparatus oontract. They are entertaining lavishly, and at

least getting the good will of some of the i3rincipals. He says,

however, that if the Kellogg Company will place in his hands fifty

shares of their stock, with permission to distribute it as he sees

fit, he will guarantee that the question of granting the contraot

to anyone but Kellogg will never arise.'

This, of course, is strictly confidential.

A way was found to 'help' Sheldon out of the Milwaukee situation, as is

592

indicated in Sheldon's letter to Fish, sayings

The expenses incurred in the effort to gain the franchise for the Inde-

pendent Telephone Company in Milwaukee amounted to $5223.79 made up as fol-

lows:

Lawyers foes of all kinds in obtaining charter organizing the

Company and arguing the case before the Common Council

Miscellaneous expenses2,223.79

As usual the people interested with me deducted the entire amount from

591. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.11,
letter. F. P. Fish to Chas. F. Cutler, dated December 18, 1902.

592. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 13106, let—
ter. George R. Sheldon to F. P. Fish, dated January 19, 1903.
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my advance of $30,000. which I made as 
evidonoe of good faith. I have not

charged in the expenses any interest on this 
$30.000. as I did not consider

it a proper charge against you for expenses 
incurred.

A few days later, Sheldon indicated how the
 matter was arranged in his let-

593
ter to Fish. stating, in part:

I beg to acknowledge receipt of check of the Wisconsin 
Telephone Com-

pany for $5223.79 for which I enclose voucher and reoeipt
. Thank you very

much.

Hanford's complete conversion to service to the Bell, 
as well as the shift-

ing to other soenes of efforts to prevent financing of 
independent companies. is shown

594

in Fish's letter to Hanford. dated January 19:1903, i
n which he stated:

I return Mr. Aldrich's note which you sent me.

Do not forget that we want to defeat the opposition in ev
ery case,

and that it is only when we have exhausted every effort 
in that direction

that any question of selling Kellogg equipment comes
 up.

I should like to have you keep in touch with Hammer, for I w
ant to

prevent his financing Salt Lake if possible. It may be th4i he will get

so discouraged as to sell his franchise for a small su
m.

Further work by Hanford, indicating the disposition to use the fi
nancial

power of the Morgan firm to stifle competition, is shown in Fish's
 letter to E. P.

595
Meany, a special agent of the Bell Company. in which Fish 

said:

Hanford writes me as follows:

'The Hyde Park scheme is being killed. Your friend J. P.

Morgan has control of the City Council in Chioago in the street

railway fight. It appears that he is to be the man to defeat

Harrison's control of the Council and thereby give public prop-

erties a chance to exist, and the old Cosmopolitan gang will

help Morgan because they want Harrison downed.'

I have no doubt that any of Mr. Morgan's friends could be induced to

work in our interest, if it were desirable for us to approach them.

593. Ibid.. letter, George R. Sheldon to F. P. Fish. dated January 23, 1903.

594. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.

II, letter. F. P. Fish to Hopkins J. Hanford. dated January 19, 1903.

595. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to General E. P. Meany. dated February 7, 1901.
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Fish showed no hesitancy in asking Baker to intercede again, as ii indioat-

596

ed in his letter to Baker dated May 9, 1903, saying:

General William J. Palmer, of Colorado Springs, is in a position to be

very helpful to our Colorado Telephone Company in its fight with the opposi-

tion company in Colorado Springs, if he is inclined so to do. He is a stock-

holder in the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, and it is quite prob-

able that he would be willing to exert himself a little on our behalf if he

were asked so to do in a proper way.

Are your relations with him such that you could write him a letter in-

yoking his assistance, or can you tell ma how we can best get in touoh with

him?

Again Fish exhibited this tendency, in a letter to Arthur D. -Wheeler, Pres-

597
ident of the Chicago (Bell) Telephone Company, in which he said:

Can you find out whether or not the Orthwein people, of the Chicago

and Milwaukee Telegraph Company, propose to use the Alley L structure in

coming down to Chicago? Also whether or not it is worth while for us to

try to get Mr. George F. Baker. our Director, to interfere with any such

use of the Alley L structure?

Continuance of Hanford's use of his position of confidence among tha inde-

pendent telephone people is indicated in Fish's letter to Wheeler, dated October 1,

598
1903, saying, in part:

As to the telegraph line from St. Louis to Chicago, we certainly want

to kill that enterprise if we can - or at any rate to limit it to telegraphy.

If Hanford could take hold of the matter and develop it in such a way that

it never could go into the telephone business, it would be comparatively

harmless to our interests. I doubt, however, if he can do this.

Your suggestion that Hanford meet the alleged capitalists and see what

is the real situation, is a good one. He should, however, be very careful

not to commit himself in the slightest degree, but be ready to take such

action an our interests may require.

Again. Fish turned for protection to Baker, and wrote him a description of

596. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to Geo. F. Baker, dated May 9, 1903.
597. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to -Arthur D. Wheeler, dated May 18, 1903.
598. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to Arthur D. Wheeler, dated October 1, 1903.
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the severe competition the Bell company was experiencing, asking for 
influence to be

599
brought to bear upon a railroad, saying, in part:

As you know, very small matters are sometimes important in 
the tele-

phone business. I am going to take the liberty of troubling you with one.

The St. Louis & San Francisco Railroad, a part of the Rock Island sys-

tem is. I think, treating our Southwestern Telegraph & Telephone Company

rather badly in Texas. We have opposition at Denison. Sherman and Paris

in that state. As in all such cases, the opposition companies in those

cities seem to care but little for revenue and in accordance with a some-

what common custom of such companies, they are in each place giving the

Railroad Company telephone service without charge or at an absurdly low

rate....The St. Louis & San Francisco Railroad Company has, however, in

each of those places, Denison, Sherman and Paris, ordered out our telephones

on the sole ground that we will not give the Railroad Company free service

or a discriminating low rate which is improper from any reasonable stand-

point....This seems unfair and unfriendly although in Texas all established

corporations should surely stand together in the general interest and be

friendly against the common enemies....

....I cannot believe that the responsible men of the Rock Island Sys-

tem would approve the course of their local people.

Unless you regard this matter as of too little consequence to receive

any attention, you may be willing to bring it before the Rock Island people

for their consideration, and I hope for action which will relieve us of an

embarrassment out of all proportion to the money involved.

In another instance, the Kansas City Journal was attacking the Bell's me
th-

600

ode in that city, whereupon Fish wrote Coolidge, saying, in part:

I should like very much to have the papers of Kansas City adopt that

friendly attitude toward our corporation whioh the better class of papers

intend, as I believe, to adopt generally toward public service corporations

if they are satisfied that those corporations are endeavoring to give the

community in which they operate proper service.

I am informed that Mr. B. P. Cheney is interested in the Kansas City

Journal. I was introduced to Mr. Cheneya number of years ago on the oars,

but do not feel that I know him well enough to rely at all upon my casual

acquaintance with him.
5** * • *5*

Would you be willing to say a word to Mr. Cheney on this subject? I

am very sure that if he oared to exercise a little personal influence on

our behalf he could be most helpful to the Company, and thereby to all of

599. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.

III, letter, F. P. Fish to George F. Baker, dated October 2. 1903.

600. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge, Jr.. dated January 23. 1904.
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us in New England who are so much interested in its prosperity. I should

be very glad to meet Mr. Cheney myself if opportunity offered, and talk the

matter over with him frankly; but it is quite possible that a word from you

would be as effective in directing his attention to the subject as if he

were troubled with an interview with me.

Fish did not forget to call upon Waterbury also, when the occasion demanded,
601

as is indicated in a letter to Waterbury. dated March 16. 1904, stating:

I send you herewith a copy of "Telephony" for February 1904 which, on

page 114, gives more complete information as to the United States Trust &

Savings Bank of Chicago than I have before seen in print.

It is organized almost altogether for the purpose of disposing of the

securities of Independent telephone companies. Overshiner is the promoter

and has been working for a long time to get an institution that will help

the telephone manufacturers to develop Independent companies and dispose of

their securities.

Ur. Reid will find himself in queer company on the Board of this insti-

tution.

Again Fish called upon Waterbury for aid in blocking the financing of inde-

pendents, as indicated by his letter to Waterbury dated April 26, 1904, stating. in

602
part:

It is of course of the greatest consequence that we should keep the op-

position out of Omaha.

In this connection I take the liberty of sending to you the enclosed

letter, which speaks for itself.

I do not know anything about Theodore C. Woodbury but have no doubt

that the "J. and W. Seigleman" referred to in the letter should be "J. and

W. Seligman."

Mr. Coolidge was again asked "bluntly" to aid in discouraging the financing
603

of independents, as shown in Fish's letter to him dated May 10. 1905, stating:

601. Ibid., letter, F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated March 16, 1904.

602. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Private Letter Book No.

letter. F. P. Fish to John I. Waterbury, dated April 26, 190/4--
603. Ibid.. letter, F. P. Fish to T. Jefferson Coolidge, dated May 10. 1905.
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First, Can you get at the Mississippi Valley Trust Company in St.

Louis, and discourage them against putting an opposition plant into Mil-

waukee?

Second, Could you get at H. T. Scott, of the Union Iron Works at San

Francisco, and urge him not to go into the opposition business in San

Francisco?

I wish I might say a word to you about these matters, but am about to

go away and can only put the questions bluntly.

In this instance, Coolidge gave Fish a copy of the letter he wrote to

Breckinridge Jones, Vice President of the Mississippi Valley Trust Company of St. Louis.

604

in which he placed the matter before Jones in significant terms, saying:

I hear that in some way the Mississippi Valley Trust Company has been

considering a proposition to assist in putting an opposition telephone plant

in Milwaukee. I write to say to you that your friends here would greatly

regret any such action. and I can honestly say that I think an opposition

plant would prove a disastrous investment. The telephone is a natural mon-

opoly. The public do not want two telephones, and the Bell company has many

advantages. Moreover, wherever the Bell has controlled the local company,

as they do in Milwaukee, they have fought things to a finish. I did not

suppose that your local St. Louis opposition was sufficiently attractive to

encourage going into other fights, but of course it takes time to fully get

to the bottom of things. and in the end I believe there is no harder work

and poorer investment than putting in a second telephone system. I should

be much pleased to give you any information in regard to opposition plants,

etc., that you would like, and the great difficulty in appreciating at the

start why they are doomed to failure. The fact is that the depreciation is

greater in telephone work than in almost anything else, and is never suffi-

ciently allowed for.

This enlistment of the bankers' aid was not confined to this country, but.

through Winsor of Kidder, Peabody, Baring Brothers, of London, were prevailed upon to

obtain and forward information on the European financial backers of the "Keystone" op-

position company in Philadelphia. Baring Brothers and Company, Limited, wrote Kidder.

605

Peabody, saying:

604. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15587. let-

ter, T. Jefferson Coolidge. Jr., to Breckinridge Jones, dated May 12, 1905.

605. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 15868, copy

of a letter from G. Farris, Director of Baring Brothers & Co., Limited, of London.

England. to Messrs. Kidder. Peabody & Co., dated November 3, 1905; this copy was
attached to a letter from Kidder. Peabody & Co. to F. P. Fish, dated November 15.
1905.
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We beg to enclose you extract from letter which we have this morning

received from our friends with reference to "Keystone" Fives.

606
The enclosure stated, in part:

We are in receipt of your private letter of the let inst.. and beg to

confirm our telegram of today. as per enclosed Copy. We would now add that

the 5% First Mortgage Gold Bonds of the Keystone Telephone Company of Phila-

delphia. due July 1st, 1935, have been introduced here by Messrs. Van Marken
& Middendorp, for account of Messrs. Oppenheim and van Till, of the Hague.

Messrs. van Marken & Middendorp are an unimportant firm with very lit-

tle credit and are simply acting on orders from Messrs. Oppenheim and van

Till, which latter firm, as you will perhaps be aware of, has during the

last few years extended its business considerably. They seem to be on very

intimate terms with Messrs. Fisk & Robinson, New York. In the prospectus

of the bonds a translation of a letter from Messrs. Fisk & Robinson is pub-

lished giving details as regards the Keystone Telephone Company.

Messrs. Oppenheim and van Till have a little financial paper of their

own, which they distribute extensively in the provinces and we believe that

the comparatively high rate of interest of the Keystone Telephone Co. bonds

has tempted our provincial investors to subscribe to them to some extent.

We know of $400,000 of these bonds, which have been placed here, as they

were attached to a Che ue which we received for our account throu h Messrs.

Baring MaEoun & Co. for collection here, but we are not certain that other

bonds of the same description have not come here through other channels.

The bonds have been chiefly taken by speculators, who are looking forward to

an appreciation of the price of 1 or zt to resell their holdings. At pres-

ent there is very little indication that their hope will be fulfilled, the

bonds still being offered at 1/16% above the issue-price with no buyers.

Underscoring added7

These foreign connections appeared quite willing to scrutinize the customers'

documents passing through their hands, in order to give intimate information to the
607

Bell Company. These letters were transmitted to Fish by Winsor, on November 15. 1905.

Winsor again indicated the value of this association with London bankers,

in connection with an independent telephone representative's attempt to get capital
608

abroad, as indicated in his letter to Fish, saying, in part:

606. Ibid., enclosure, dated November 2. 1905, attached to above letter copy dated
November q, 1905.

607. Idem.
608. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter File No. 17034, let-

ter, Robert Winsor to F. P. Fish. dated April 6, 1907.
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I have written to London in regard to the possibility of Conklin get-

ting any money there for the Interstate Company, - and will let you know as

soon as I hear.

I should be inclined to agree with you, that it is hardly worth while

to advertise in the London "Statist", whose letter I return herewith.

Vail wrote directly to the Barings in London, seeking to influence them
609

against investments in the independents, in a letter stating, in part:

The so-called Independent Companies of the United States are making a

determined effort to enlist new capital to carry on their enterprises.

Most if not all of them have by the payment of fixed charges on an over-

loaded property, and the declaration of dividends not earned, allowed their

property to get into a bad condition, or have applied capital to the main-

tenance of the same. By readjustments, reorganizations, consolidations and

various manipulations, they have so far succeeded in raising a limited a-

mount of new capital. But the result is there are so many and such a variety

of securities that it is in many cases difficult to tell where the owner-

ships lay.
* * * * * * *

The independent companies have about exhausted their resources for new

capital in the United States, and are now going abroad to get foreign capi-

tal. But there will be no danger of loss of any foreign capital which will

be invested after a careful examination of any statements of conditions and

business which is verified by an accountant of high standing and respecta-

bility.

The most casual examination of the accounts, capital obligations and

Issues of these Independent Companies will satisfy any one of the necessity

of great care in investing in their securities.

Si nificance of Financial Pressure u on Tele hone Com etition throu h Financial

Control of the Industry.

The significant factor in this program of slow financial strangulation of

the independent telephone companies was summarized by Vail himself, in a letter to
610

Winsor, dated August 5. 1909. in which he said:

This man Howard is or was in London or in France trying to raise money
for this new organization in the West. He has succeeded in buying up or

609. American Telephone and Telegraph Company. "Hall and French" papers, letter.
Theo. N. Vail to Baring Bros., London, England, dated July 15, 1909.

610. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, President's Letter Book No. 54. let-
ter, Theo. N. Vail to Robert Winsor, Care Messrs. Baring Bros. & Co., London,
England, dated August 5. 1909.
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rather exchanging his stook for certain decrepit properties in the West and

getting up a little agitation out there, but is not doing anything effective 

nor can he without a large amount of money which it will be impossible for

him  to raise in this country.

The report I received yesterday was that he had raised some money in

France - how and where I do not know - but certainly no one would think of
putting in any large amount of money without sending someone to investigate

and after an investigation no one would think of ding anything.

I do not know whether or not it would be of any benefit to circulate
these papers in England or on the continent, but if you think it would be,
I can get you any number that may be desirable.

I am keeping a pretty close watch on this as it seems as though all
the Independents in the country were watching Howard, trusting that he would
make a success and in some way carry them along with him.

One benefit of the consolidations that'll° and others are makin will
be that the capital reguired will come into larger figures where it will 
require banking houses to finance them rather than being able to finance 
themselves through their local credit and local country banks as they have 
been doing,. gnderscoring addesg

This put the matter concisely - the large sources of capital in this coun-

try were not available to the independents, and the more they grew and combined, the

more impossible would it be for them to obtain capital in the large amounts required.

This affords an excellent practical illustration of the conditions which

Dr. H. B. Reed so aptly described in his "Morals of Monopoly and Competition," in
611

which he stated, in part:

....the competitive system grew out of ancient conditions of monopoly
(guilds and grants by kings) and was approved by the judge of the transi-
tion period because it better satisfied the interests of the public....
With reference to traders, the system was a success because they were ap-
proximately equal in capital.. ..When, however, a combination is introduced
into these conditions, then success depends principally on the single ele-
ment of capital against which the other elements of success in the small
trader (good manapement, prompt service, considerate treatment of custom-
ers, ability to produce and sell goods of a- quality and price demanded by
the customers) are of little avail....

*5*

611. Homer Blosser Reed, "The Morals of Monopoly and Competition," pp. 119 and 120.
For a more complete discussion of this aspect of competition, see Chapter I of
this report, section entitled "Importance, to Investment Capital, of Non-Compet-
itive Control over the Field of Investment," p.9.
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An essential conclusion from this approach to the Bell System. from its in-

vestment capital aspect. is that the existence of a telephone communications monopoly

Ck. 
may have depended not alone upon the much-advertised "natural monopoly' characteris-

tics of the telephone but also upon the less well-known monopolistic nature of its

source of investment capital. One of the concomitants of its mere Size is that there

no longer exists a single source of investment capital of sufficient size to offer

competition in the nationalized telephone service. For over a quarter of a century.

the Bell System has been financed through,

vestment bankers, and the present size and

is such that, outside of the State itself,

tal of sufficient size to make the chances

able enough to merit the risk of the grave

situation holds, not only for the field of

ment of 'natural

'manufacturing,"

viction.

or by, one closely affiliated group of in-

financial power of the growing Bell System

there exists no source of investment capi-

of profitable telephone competition favor-

losses which would follow failure. This

telephone "operation," in which the argu-

monopoly" carries some weight, but also for the field of telephone

in which the "natural monopoly" argument carries little or no con-

It may be argued that the present representatives of investment capital in

the Bell System would lose that position if and as soon as they no longer Justified

their policies and results. But since results (for the owner of the investment capi-

tal concerned) consist of continuation of dividends at the present rate (9%), and

since dividends on capital invested in a monopoly may be placed at any figure so long

as it does not invite competition from other capital sources or retribution from an

aggrieved body politic, it follows that the only possible source of danger to the

status quo in Bell System investment capital lies in the possibility of a reduction

of its monopoly profits through public regulation.

From this situation springs the necessity and economic advisability of ex-

pending large sums in a public relations policy designed to relieve the popular pres-

sure upon legislative bodies and regulating commissions. Furthermore, since regula-

tion of utilities in the past has concerned itself almost solely with a determination

and regulation of the rate of net earnings, the economic urge is for public utility

management policy to countenance any expenditure that will inflUenCe basic public

opinion against further regulation.
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